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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's go back on the
  

 2   record.
  

 3                 Mr. Acken, I believe you have several more
  

 4   exhibits for us today?
  

 5                 MR. ACKEN:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and
  

 6   Members of the Committee, yes, we have --
  

 7                 THE REPORTER:  Is your green light on?
  

 8                 MR. ACKEN:  Yes.  That's a little better.
  

 9   We have three new exhibits that I'd like our witnesses to
  

10   walk through, and we developed in response to questions.
  

11   I'll introduce the exhibits and then have the witnesses
  

12   explain them.
  

13                 So CC-11 will be a diagram showing CCR's
  

14   corporate structure.  That was a question from Member
  

15   Fontes, and so we will present that.  CC-12 is a map that
  

16   several members of the committee requested it, and I
  

17   think it will be very helpful.  It shows existing
  

18   infrastructure in the area, existing WAPA lines, some
  

19   transmission lines of unknown ownership, but, you know,
  

20   but at least provide some context as to what's out there
  

21   with respect to electrical transmission and it also shows
  

22   the natural gas pipeline in the area.  So we'll provide
  

23   some testimony on that.
  

24                 CC-13 will be a new photograph along Curtis
  

25   Road.  You've heard us talk about Curtis Road, that's the
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 1   east/west alignment of the corridor before it heads
  

 2   south.  And that photograph shows the existing
  

 3   transmission infrastructure.  Again, you know, trying --
  

 4   helping all of us in the room understanding what's
  

 5   already out there and what will be added.
  

 6                 So those are the three new exhibits.  And,
  

 7   Chairman, when you're ready, I'd like to dive in and
  

 8   start with the witnesses sponsoring and explaining that.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please proceed.
  

10   BY MR. ACKEN:
  

11       Q.   So, Brian, I want to start with CC-12, and if we
  

12   could pull that up, I'd like you to take a few moments,
  

13   explain to the committee what they are seeing and how
  

14   this visual was developed in the handful of hours between
  

15   we were last together.
  

16       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) Sure.
  

17            So I apologize for the small size.
  

18                 THE REPORTER:  I need your microphone.
  

19                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  Apologize for the small
  

20   size, but hopefully -- I will apologize for the third
  

21   time for the small size of the figure and hope you can
  

22   see it better on your iPad or we have hard copies, if
  

23   you'd rather.
  

24                 So what we have here is, if you can see the
  

25   mouse, maybe, here on the southeast corner of the
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 1   proposed development, which is now hatched in the dark
  

 2   blue so you can see the private land underneath it, is
  

 3   the WAPA substation.  Coming out of the WAPA substation
  

 4   are three 115-kV lines -- and I will look to
  

 5   Ms. Hathiramani to keep me on track here -- there's
  

 6   115-kV coming to the north along 11 Mile Road.  There's
  

 7   115-kV, this one's curious, appears to be co-located with
  

 8   a 230-kV of unknown ownership.  That goes west along
  

 9   Curtis Road and then turns north at, I believe it's
  

10   Toltec Buttes Road, but we can confirm that.
  

11                 And then, finally, we have 115-kV line
  

12   coming southeast out of the substation in parallel with a
  

13   230-kV line that comes down from the north.  It is
  

14   APS-owned and it is the Milligan line, which is going to
  

15   terminate at the Saguaro Substation to the far east of
  

16   the map.
  

17                 I said I was done, I'm not quite done.
  

18   There's 115-kV coming out from the east, from the
  

19   substation as well.  And starkly, from the northwest to
  

20   the southeast in yellow, you can see the El Paso Natural
  

21   Gas line.
  

22   BY MR. ACKEN:
  

23       Q.   So next I'd like you to provide a description of
  

24   CC-13, which I believe is a photograph that maybe you
  

25   took or certainly you're familiar with and how that ties
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 1   into the map that was just shown?
  

 2       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) Certainly.
  

 3                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Comstock.
  

 5                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  If I may, and I apologize
  

 6   for not being on the ball here.  I took the time last
  

 7   night to look on the National Pipe Mapping System that's
  

 8   provided by the Pipeline and Hazardous Safety
  

 9   Administration out of Washington, D.C., which shows all
  

10   the high-pressure gas lines or transmission lines that
  

11   are in the United States.
  

12                 In this case I looked up Arizona, and Pinal
  

13   County, in particular.  If I may, I have a screenshot, I
  

14   don't have a drawing -- or I didn't print it, but on that
  

15   lateral, and it looks to me close to the proximity of
  

16   your project, is another lateral that takes off and
  

17   serves, it looks like, a large farming development down
  

18   there.
  

19                 So on the -- and those lines are posted as
  

20   active on the National Pipeline Mapping System.  So I'm
  

21   a -- I'm a little concerned that on the map that we're
  

22   seeing on 12, I don't see that lateral anywhere shown,
  

23   but it is in proximity of where your project is.  And so
  

24   I just want to make sure that we are looking at the same
  

25   information that's readily available to the public and
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 1   that we are addressing what may be a conflict that's in
  

 2   this -- in this database provided by the feds.
  

 3                 MR. ACKEN:  So what I would ask is if we
  

 4   could get a copy of that map, either emailed to you,
  

 5   Mr. Chairman, that we can --
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Tod is out today.
  

 7                 MR. ACKEN:  Well, that's going to be fun.
  

 8                 If we could get that, maybe take a quick
  

 9   break and get a copy of that, because we're using what
  

10   available information we have on that El Paso line.  I
  

11   think -- so I would like to see that, and it might help
  

12   inform the additional photograph we're about to see.  So
  

13   maybe could we take five and see if we can get that from
  

14   Member Comstock and be able to show it on the screen?
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Do you want to
  

16   go through the rest of the exhibits first and kind of
  

17   circle back to that?
  

18                 MR. ACKEN:  Yeah, I suppose we can -- I
  

19   supposed we can do that.  I thought -- I think it might
  

20   inform the next exhibits, but let's -- but let's find
  

21   out.  So let's go to the next exhibit, which I believe is
  

22   CC-13.  And this --
  

23       Q.   Well, Mr. Lindenlaub, I'll have you describe
  

24   this for the committee.
  

25       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) Sure.
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 1            As described, the large structure on the right
  

 2   is what we -- is at least the 115-kV line coming from the
  

 3   WAPA substation, and we believe -- again, I'm looking to
  

 4   Sohini here -- that it's co-located with a 230-kV line
  

 5   and, of course, just a small distribution line on the
  

 6   south side.  So we are looking west along Curtis Road,
  

 7   west of the project.  So the photo was probably taken
  

 8   somewhere along there.
  

 9       Q.   Can you see that natural gas line that was
  

10   depicted in CC-11 in this photograph or the alignment for
  

11   it?
  

12       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) No, it's not visible in the
  

13   photograph, or at least not to my knowledge.
  

14       Q.   And so what this photograph shows is the
  

15   existing -- what we have referred to as existing WAPA
  

16   line is actually a 230 line with 115-kV WAPA and an
  

17   unknown 230-kV; is that correct?
  

18       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) That's correct.
  

19       Q.   And from this viewpoint, where is the
  

20   applicant's requested corridor?
  

21       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) The applicant's requested
  

22   corridor is to the left of the photo on the south side of
  

23   Curtis Road.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little, you have a
  

25   question?
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I do, Mr. Chairman.  Thank
  

 2   you.
  

 3                 I think that from just looking at the
  

 4   picture, the insulators on both of those circuits are the
  

 5   same length.  I -- looking -- just looking at it, I
  

 6   would, based on my experience, say that the lines are
  

 7   both the same voltage.  I'm wondering how -- what makes
  

 8   you think one is 115 and one is 230.  And I think we need
  

 9   to find out what's going on there, just to be sure that
  

10   we have all the pertinent information on the map.
  

11                 Thank you.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, because it looks like
  

13   a double-circuit 230, doesn't it?
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.
  

15                 MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Member Little.  And
  

16   I'm going to turn it over to Sohini to address that
  

17   specific question.
  

18       Q.   Sohini, were you able to connect with a WAPA
  

19   representative since the last time you testified before
  

20   this committee?
  

21       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

22       Q.   And did you ask that WAPA representative what
  

23   lines they had in this area?
  

24       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

25       Q.   And what were you informed about the lines that
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 1   run along Curtis Road from the WAPA representative?
  

 2       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) The WAPA representative
  

 3   confirmed that the WAPA line along Curtis Road is 115
  

 4   kilovolts.  She said that there may be another line out
  

 5   there, but it's not a WAPA line, and she doesn't know who
  

 6   that transmission owner is.
  

 7       Q.   And was the team able to do some due diligence
  

 8   with respect to Member Fontes's question about WAPA plans
  

 9   in this area?
  

10       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

11       Q.   And what did you learn about WAPA development
  

12   plans in this area as it relates to this line in
  

13   particular?
  

14       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) So this line, as previously
  

15   stated, is 115 kilovolts, so when looking into whether or
  

16   not we could co-locate, given that it's already a double
  

17   circuit, that wouldn't be really feasible for us to
  

18   co-locate with this line.  And our WAPA contact also
  

19   confirmed that WAPA does not currently have an interest
  

20   in sharing its towers in this area at this time.
  

21       Q.   And did you also learn about the timing of
  

22   WAPA's upgrades in this area?
  

23       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.  Sorry, apologies.  That
  

24   was your previous question.  Yes, the upgrades in this
  

25   area were completed in 2015.
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 1       Q.   So the line -- that existing double-circuit line
  

 2   was part of a WAPA upgrade that was completed in 2015; is
  

 3   that your understanding?
  

 4       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

 5       Q.   Thank you.
  

 6            Mr. Lindenlaub, I'd like to go back to you and
  

 7   have you -- or, actually, before I do that.
  

 8            So, Sohini, was there anything further from your
  

 9   discussions with WAPA representatives that I missed?
  

10       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) I don't believe so.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I have a quick question.
  

12   How do we know that one of those is a 230-kV line and
  

13   not -- it's not a double-circuit 115-kV?  I think it's
  

14   odd that WAPA doesn't know who's sharing the poles with
  

15   it.
  

16   BY MR. ACKEN:
  

17       Q.   So I'm going to turn that question to Sohini.
  

18   If you would describe the dataset that was used to
  

19   identify structure types and also voltages in this area?
  

20       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

21            Thank you, Chairman Stafford.
  

22            So our -- the internal dataset that we use is
  

23   ABB/Hitachi data, but I will caveat that in previous
  

24   states in parts of the transmission lines that we have
  

25   looked at there have been a couple of mistakes, so it did
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 1   say that there is both a 115- and 230-kV line
  

 2   concurrently running.  But it's possible that it's
  

 3   incorrect.  Especially given the information that you and
  

 4   Member Little shared, just looking at this image, it's
  

 5   possible that it's not 100 percent accurate.
  

 6       Q.   But this is the best information that you have
  

 7   available to you from available data sources; is that
  

 8   correct?
  

 9       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

10       Q.   And could you tell us a little bit more about
  

11   that ABB/Hitachi dataset, what that is?
  

12       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) That's an external dataset
  

13   that we use for across the country, but there is
  

14   supplemental datasets that we've used as well.  I don't
  

15   know too much more about the technical aspects of the
  

16   dataset itself.
  

17       Q.   But is it your understanding that, yes, there
  

18   may be exceptions, but is it generally reliable and
  

19   relied upon for evaluating transmission systems?
  

20       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes, that's correct.
  

21       Q.   And, Brian --
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder?
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  A quick question.  Could
  

24   you give us the name and/or title and authority of the
  

25   person you spoke with from WAPA?
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 1                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yes.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  The real question is, were
  

 3   you talking to somebody who had the authority to give you
  

 4   the information?
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Or had the information
  

 6   themselves even.
  

 7                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Thank you, Member.  So I
  

 8   spoke with realty specialist Leslee Beckett at WAPA.
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.
  

10   BY MR. ACKEN:
  

11       Q.   And how is she your contact at WAPA?  In what
  

12   context have you been communicating with her?
  

13       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) I've been communicating with
  

14   her, as we mentioned yesterday, about a crossing
  

15   agreement and what we would need to -- what the
  

16   requirements would be for that -- that's really the only
  

17   thing that we've discussed in the past.
  

18       Q.   And so she would be familiar with this line to
  

19   the extent -- to provide guidance as to what is required
  

20   for crossing it; is that correct?
  

21       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

22                 MR. ACKEN:  Thank you.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  So just to follow up, to
  

24   the best of your knowledge and your contacts, this is the
  

25   person that has authority to speak for WAPA and give you
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 1   that information?
  

 2                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  (No audible response.)
  

 3                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yeah.  Could you spell, for
  

 4   the record, or does the -- the person's name?
  

 5                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yes.  Correct.
  

 6   She -- she also referenced that they have an internal GIS
  

 7   system, so that shows all their lines, but it doesn't
  

 8   show any other utility lines.  So the information that
  

 9   she's sharing on the WAPA line will be accurate, but she
  

10   doesn't have access to other information, although I'm
  

11   sure it's publicly available elsewhere.  And just to
  

12   spell her name, L-e-s-l-e-e, space, B-e-c-k-e-t-t.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you very much.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little?
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

16                 I'm wondering, I think the BTA has all that
  

17   information in it.  I'm not sure exactly how to recommend
  

18   that the -- that that be accessed.  Maybe contact
  

19   somebody in Staff at the Commission?
  

20                 MR. ACKEN:  Member Little, in my
  

21   experience, I don't know that a lot of the WAPA
  

22   information is provided.  Now, if there is a separate 230
  

23   there owned by another entity that's subject to
  

24   Commission jurisdiction under the BTA, then yes.  But I
  

25   was not aware that WAPA is a participant in the BTA, but
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 1   you would know better than me.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  They -- they are.  And
  

 3   I'm -- it's been a while since I've been involved with a
  

 4   BTA, but I think that that information may be available
  

 5   there in the BTA, though I'm just not real sure how to
  

 6   access the most recent one.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So --
  

 8                 MEMBER FONTES:  This is Member Fontes here,
  

 9   if I can.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Fontes.
  

11                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yes, sir.
  

12                 The WECC has a map and it's got a pretty
  

13   up-to-date database.  That's the Western Electric
  

14   Coordination Council.  And WAPA is a member of that, as
  

15   is SRP, UniSource, TEP, and a lot of what I'll call
  

16   nonjurisdictional transmission operators.  So I would say
  

17   that's probably your source is WECC, based on my
  

18   experience.
  

19                 I'm looking at a WAPA map right now, and I
  

20   can't tell from the WAPA map that I have as a part of my
  

21   work with WAPA, and I can't tell who has ownership of
  

22   that other line on this map as well.  Just wanted to
  

23   offer that.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  You'll have to find out who
  

25   that is eventually if you're going to cross that line.

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 254    VOLUME II    12/09/2025 225

  

 1   You're going to have to deal with WAPA and whoever else
  

 2   owns the other lines that's on the poles, right?
  

 3                 MR. ACKEN:  Chairman Stafford, certainly.
  

 4   I think we've gotten a bit far afield of where I
  

 5   understood this inquiry began, which was would it be
  

 6   possible to co-locate this project with the existing
  

 7   lines out there.  And I submit the answer is no.  You
  

 8   have --
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I would agree with you,
  

10   it's already a double-circuit, you're not going to stack
  

11   a third one on there.  That doesn't make any sense.  But,
  

12   yeah, that question has been answered.  There's zero
  

13   chance of co-locating it with the WAPA infrastructure.
  

14                 MR. ACKEN:  And so then you get to the next
  

15   question is do we have an adequate corridor in which to
  

16   place another line, and I submit the answer is yes.  The
  

17   corridor that the applicant is requesting is to the left
  

18   on the other side of this road alignment.  And it's at
  

19   least 500 feet.
  

20                 MEMBER FONTES:  Hey, Marvin.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fontes, please mute
  

22   yourself.
  

23                 MR. ACKEN:  It's at least 500 feet, in some
  

24   places a thousand feet, which is, in my experience, and I
  

25   think those of you who have more experience with the
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 1   electrical system would confirm is more than adequate for
  

 2   a 230 line.  So, you know, we can run the BTA to ground
  

 3   and see what we can find.  You know, at some point I
  

 4   wonder how much information -- what are we doing with
  

 5   this information?  If the question before the committee
  

 6   is, is this a good route?  I submit a route that
  

 7   parallels an existing double-circuit line for three miles
  

 8   is a great route.  It has been the election of this
  

 9   committee in many cases that doing so is correct.
  

10                 And if the question is, is a 500-foot
  

11   corridor sufficiently adequate for separation, again, I
  

12   would submit the answer is yes.  So if it's the election
  

13   of the committee that we run to ground more information,
  

14   we will do so.  It's just not clear to me to what we are
  

15   doing as it relates to seeking a CEC corridor for this
  

16   project.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  I think you've
  

18   answered the questions about the route.  I think it's
  

19   just an issue of having accurate maps attached to it.  So
  

20   in future committees or the Commission looks at it, they
  

21   have more information to say, okay, this is what's going
  

22   on out in this area.  As opposed to if it's just the
  

23   project line on the map, it doesn't give you the full
  

24   picture of what's out there.  I think it's just having
  

25   them more -- showing the existing transmission, how it
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 1   relates to the new transmission.  I think it's helpful
  

 2   for the committee and the Commission in future matters.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant, you had a
  

 4   question?
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

 6                 From my experience of working on Hoover
  

 7   Dam, Western and Roachman [phonetic] will confirm this,
  

 8   usually co-locates with public power entities.  I think
  

 9   that's an electrical district line, it's called Palo
  

10   Verde or something, but I think if you look at the
  

11   electrical district maps, it will show it too.
  

12                 MR. ACKEN:  And so then, and I would go
  

13   back to, you know, if the concern is maps, how much
  

14   detail is needed?  If the question is, are those
  

15   juris- -- well, otherwise jurisdictional, but for the
  

16   fact that they're owned by WAPA, you know, they're 115-kV
  

17   and greater.  We can provide a map for the CEC that
  

18   labels these as 115 or greater.
  

19                 I'd like to think and submit that that's
  

20   accurate for the purposes of this CEC.  And when other
  

21   projects come in in that corridor or if they do come into
  

22   that corridor or they may implicate those lines in a
  

23   different way or a much more direct way, then yes, maybe
  

24   it makes sense to look at specific voltages, but for the
  

25   purposes of siting, is it the election of the committee
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 1   that it's important that you know whether it's 115 or a
  

 2   230.
  

 3                 Because I don't know that we have the
  

 4   ability to get you that answer, quite honestly.  We can
  

 5   look at the BTA, but that's not information that
  

 6   is -- that we hold.  This applicant reached out to WAPA
  

 7   on the crossing, to the extent that there is a third
  

 8   party that also owns a portion -- has a shared facilities
  

 9   agreement, well, that's going to come out, right?  We're
  

10   going to know who that other entity is, and the applicant
  

11   will have to work with that entity on the crossing.
  

12                 But today where we sit here today that
  

13   information is not available in what are the typically
  

14   available datasets for use to identify lines.  And as
  

15   Member Fant pointed out correctly, with a lot of these
  

16   electrical districts, you're not going to necessarily
  

17   know ownership.  It's just not provided at this level.
  

18                 We know that there's an Electrical District
  

19   No. 5 Substation across the street from -- from the new
  

20   WAPA one, so we know Electrical District No. 5 has
  

21   infrastructure there.  But the extent of it, yes, they
  

22   don't provide maps, to my knowledge, that we can review,
  

23   and that are publicly available.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  I think that --
  

25   because my thought is that we want to show that this map
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 1   has a double circuit on the north side of Curtis Road, so
  

 2   if the Commission says, hey, why didn't you guys
  

 3   co-locate with them?  Well, funny story, there's already
  

 4   a double circuit on the north side of the road, so it's
  

 5   not really possible to share the poles with WAPA.  So I
  

 6   just -- that's the point of having it there.  So, you
  

 7   know, like I said, for future committees and the
  

 8   Commission to say, oh, what's going on here.  They
  

 9   don't -- they're not trying to second guess or say, hey,
  

10   you know, why didn't you go this way?  Why is it here?
  

11   Wouldn't it have been better to have done that?  No, it
  

12   was not, and there's the documentation of that.
  

13                 So I think, for our purposes, I think we've
  

14   kind of -- I think we've beat this horse enough, pardon
  

15   the euphemism, but we can talk about it later when we get
  

16   to talking about what Exhibit A is going to look like.  I
  

17   think we should have the lines on there.  If we can't
  

18   identify them, I'd prefer to say -- just identify the
  

19   lines by the voltage and make sure it's a double circuit
  

20   for that one so we know what it is.  If we can't identify
  

21   the owners, we can't.  But I'd rather have it be blank
  

22   than have "unknown owner" on the map.  That's just my
  

23   preference, but I'll leave it to the members.
  

24                 Member DiCiccio?
  

25                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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 1                 And the reason I, you know, Member Drago
  

 2   here, I'm going to steal his word, but it's really about
  

 3   looking for completeness in an area, you know, what all
  

 4   is here, so that as, you know, as committee members here,
  

 5   we like to see a complete picture of everything in this
  

 6   zone or in this area.  So that not only for our
  

 7   decisionmaking, but it gives us a perspective of what's
  

 8   happening, but also as, you know, the Chairman had
  

 9   mentioned, is that it gives the future -- the more
  

10   information you provide future committees, future
  

11   decisionmakers, the better off they're going to be in
  

12   figuring out what's in that area.  Like, we even talked
  

13   about the gas line.  Now, that's not part of the CEC, but
  

14   it really is because, as committee members and as a
  

15   state, you want to see what's happening out there.
  

16                 You know, I'm just giving you -- I know
  

17   we're done with this, but going forward, as a committee,
  

18   I like the fact that we're asking for completeness on
  

19   these pictures, I really do.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And I think -- I agree with
  

21   that, Member DiCiccio.  I think we should, because one of
  

22   the things that's required under the statute is the total
  

23   environment of the area.  So, I mean, this is looking at
  

24   the total environment of the area, what's the existing
  

25   infrastructure out there.
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 1                 Member Little, you have a question?
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I just wanted to say that
  

 3   I'm fine with -- I agree with everything that you have
  

 4   said as far as we put -- I'd rather not see the word
  

 5   "unknown," we can just say "double-circuit 115-kV or
  

 6   above line" is fine with me as far as this particular
  

 7   hearing goes.  I'm curious how the project or how the
  

 8   applicant plans to arrange to cross the line when the
  

 9   time comes.
  

10                 MR. ACKEN:  So, Member Little, first of
  

11   all, I want to thank you for your comments.  I asked
  

12   Brian to show this -- another visual we showed yesterday,
  

13   this is KOP-5.  I'm going to have him explain this.  I
  

14   don't know that it's going to provide any greater context
  

15   for those insulators look the same on that double
  

16   circuit, but perhaps to your trained eye it will become
  

17   clear.  And after he describes what we're looking at, I'd
  

18   like Sohini to address specifically your question about
  

19   what is the plan for that crossing.
  

20       Q.   But, Brian, if you could explain this KOP again
  

21   and now that we have additional information about the
  

22   double-circuit nature of that existing line.
  

23       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) I certainly will, if I could
  

24   just indulge a moment.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is your mic on?
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 1                 MEMBER FONTES:  Mr. Chairman, I got some
  

 2   insight here that might be helpful when you get a chance.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  I believe
  

 4   Mr. Lindenlaub was going to answer the question and then
  

 5   when he's done --
  

 6                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yes, sir.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- go.
  

 8                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  So the -- what we're
  

 9   looking at here is the same line, on the left-hand side
  

10   of the image that is, the same line after it has turned
  

11   north of Toltec Buttes Road.  It appears to show the same
  

12   double circuit or full double circuit.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So you're looking at when
  

14   it makes this turn you're talking about?
  

15                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  That's correct.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

17   BY MR. ACKEN:
  

18       Q.   Do you know that road alignment.  For the
  

19   record, Mr. Lindenlaub?
  

20       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) I have from my notes and it's
  

21   in the application that that is South Toltec Buttes Road.
  

22       Q.   Thank you.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fontes?
  

24                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yes, sir.
  

25                 I believe that's part of a project that was
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 1   sponsored by WAPA known as Electric District 5 to Palo
  

 2   Verde.  The Southeast Valley created a line that's
  

 3   generally owned by APS, Tucson Electric Power, and WAPA
  

 4   that comes from ED5.  It's a 230-kV structure and it goes
  

 5   north into Test Track up to Pinal West into Palo Verde.
  

 6                 Mr. Chairman, I sent you a photo of that,
  

 7   if you could look at it.  But my understanding of the
  

 8   WAPA system, in knowing that a lands person may not know
  

 9   this, because it is not in the lands portfolio of WAPA, a
  

10   realty person is not the same as a transmission
  

11   operations person.  That person's name is -- well,
  

12   actually, he's -- I would -- you would need to find the
  

13   transmission person in WAPA.
  

14                 And, Mr. Acken, I would go to the deputy
  

15   general counsel, Kral, K-r-a-l, @WAPA.gov, John Kral, as
  

16   your point of contact to find that out.  But the concern
  

17   is the blowout range.  And if you're crossing areas where
  

18   they own the land ownership, obviously I don't think it
  

19   triggers NEPA, but the blowout range on that line.  So I
  

20   hope that's insightful, Mr. Chairman.  I looked it up, I
  

21   sent you a photo of that.  I might be off, but I don't
  

22   think I am on this case.
  

23                 MR. ACKEN:  If I could follow up with that.
  

24   We did look at, at your suggestion, the project
  

25   improvement plans for WAPA last night.  And what you just
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 1   said is consistent with what we found on WAPA's website.
  

 2       Q.   Is that correct, Sohini?
  

 3       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

 4       Q.   There was the upgrade from Palo Verde to ED5.
  

 5   And, for the record, Sohini, will you confirm that this
  

 6   portion was an upgraded portion?
  

 7       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

 8       Q.   And so is it fair to say, when you look at those
  

 9   transmission structures, those don't look like
  

10   50-year-old transmission structures; is that fair to say?
  

11       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

12       Q.   Is it consistent with the fact that those have
  

13   been built in the past 10 years or so?
  

14       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

15       Q.   And that would be consistent with what -- Member
  

16   Fontes's comments; is that correct?
  

17       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Correct.
  

18       Q.   With respect to your comment about realty versus
  

19   transmission, understood and acknowledged.  I want to
  

20   address with that and go back to Member Little's question
  

21   about what's the plan.
  

22            I'd like to turn this over to Sohini and have
  

23   you answer the question of what is the plan for that
  

24   crossing, both, you know, generally speaking and to make
  

25   sure that you're talking to all of the right people at
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 1   WAPA and not just the realty folks?
  

 2       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

 3            So we've done initial outreach to WAPA and that
  

 4   was where I was directed to Ms. Beckett.  She said -- she
  

 5   shared some additional requirements.  So we'll be moving
  

 6   forward with that process and making sure that we, as per
  

 7   Member Fontes's suggestions, reaching out to the
  

 8   transmission contact person as well to make sure that we
  

 9   understand fully what those lines are and what the
  

10   process would be to get those crossing agreements.
  

11       Q.   Thank you.
  

12            Member Little, Member Fontes, did you have any
  

13   further follow-up on those questions?
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  No.  Thank you for all of
  

15   that.
  

16                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman?
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Comstock.
  

18                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  I apologize.  Can we go
  

19   back to -- is it 13 where the picture was of the easement
  

20   on Curtis Road?
  

21                 MR. ACKEN:  That would be Hearing
  

22   Exhibit --
  

23                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Yes, sir.
  

24                 MR. ACKEN:  -- 12.
  

25                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  I believe during the
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 1   explanation of the picture, the question was asked can
  

 2   you see any of the transmission line that's in that?
  

 3                 MR. ACKEN:  I'm sorry, yeah, 13.
  

 4                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  The natural gas
  

 5   transmission line that may be in this area, under the
  

 6   regulatory requirements for pipelines in this kind of
  

 7   region, they put up pipeline markers, yellow pipeline
  

 8   markers, that tells who owns the pipeline, the number to
  

 9   call, and so on who owns it.  Excuse me.
  

10                 However, it's not unusual in a farming,
  

11   agricultural environment for these markers to be plowed
  

12   over or to be knocked down by the farmer in the field.
  

13   Based on the picture that I see, I see that on the south
  

14   side or the left-hand side of the picture there's been
  

15   recent harvesting there, and then, of course, there's
  

16   been grading on the north side under the 230 line.  It
  

17   wouldn't surprise me if those pipeline markers were
  

18   knocked down.
  

19                 I guess what I'm curious is, I know this is
  

20   a picture, is this the picture of where, according to the
  

21   map that you posted is the anticipated crossing of the
  

22   transmission line with the easement?
  

23                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  Member Comstock, that
  

24   would be difficult to say.  I know I was west of the
  

25   project, but unless I got into the data associated with
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 1   the photo, which I have people that assure me they can,
  

 2   I'm not sure how close I was to that crossing.
  

 3                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  And, again, Mr. Chairman,
  

 4   and to the applicant, it is important to know the
  

 5   location of that gas line.  If you go out and drill a
  

 6   hole for a pole out there and you hit that gas line, it's
  

 7   big.  And it will make a loud boom.  And so --
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It will cause some deep
  

 9   serious trouble.
  

10                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Deep serious trouble and
  

11   you get to meet the NTSB when that happens.  So I guess
  

12   I'm concerned that we don't know the exact location of
  

13   that gas line, and we need to find it and put it on a
  

14   picture or on a map so that your crossing and your
  

15   planning can be appropriate.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Mr. Acken, you
  

17   wanted to take a break to find out where that spur line
  

18   was; is that what you suggested?
  

19                 MR. ACKEN:  At some point, yes.  I mean, we
  

20   can continue.  Member Comstock's point is well taken.  I
  

21   want to also be accurate.  I had the misfortune of a case
  

22   where that happened, so I don't want to relive that.  So
  

23   I understand the comment.  I welcome his insight on how
  

24   we can access that data to make sure our data is correct.
  

25   So I would like to do that offline.  I guess the question
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 1   is, would you like us to continue with what we have and
  

 2   then take a break in the normal course and get that?
  

 3   It's really, Chairman, at your direction.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, my
  

 5   thought is that I think we've covered Exhibits 12 and 13.
  

 6   I think once you get through 11, we can get those
  

 7   admitted, and then we can take the break and you can get
  

 8   the more information you need on the gas lines.
  

 9                 MR. ACKEN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

10   We actually have a couple other cleanups that aren't tied
  

11   to exhibits, so if I could run through those quickly.
  

12                 There was a question about -- from Member
  

13   Little about potential flooding, placing structures in an
  

14   area that is known to have some flooding considerations.
  

15       Q.   And so, Jennifer, were you able to run that to
  

16   ground with your construction team?
  

17       A.   (MS. HYRE) Yes.  I was able to talk with our
  

18   construction team and our engineers regarding the
  

19   flooding conditions in the area.  Our team has completed
  

20   an initial hydrology and hydraulics study in 2021, which
  

21   was then updated in 2024.  These are generally updated
  

22   every three years to ensure that we are accurately
  

23   figuring out conditions out there related to hydrology
  

24   and hydraulics, and ensuring that our engineering that we
  

25   are conducting is pertinent to those current conditions.
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 1            We will be updating this H&H report again before
  

 2   we get to construction, and as we further with our
  

 3   engineering.  We also completed an initial geotech study
  

 4   that also gathered local conditions regarding the soils
  

 5   and flooding conditions in the area.  We're advancing
  

 6   design.  Part of that project advancement process or
  

 7   development process is that we will be working with an
  

 8   EPC that is experienced with the hydraulic conditions in
  

 9   the desert southwest to help ensure that we are
  

10   developing a design that is consistent with the flood
  

11   conditions of this local area.
  

12            I would also point to the existing WAPA
  

13   double-circuit line along Curtis Road that we've been
  

14   talking about that was built in the last 10 years, so
  

15   this provides proof of concept of being able to engineer
  

16   a resilient infrastructure in this type of environment.
  

17       Q.   Thank you, Jennifer.
  

18            One of the comments that Member Little pointed
  

19   out is that flooding in Arizona is unique and may not
  

20   look like flooding in other areas.  The H&H study that
  

21   you referred to that you'll have to restate for the
  

22   record, was that an Arizona site-specific study that was
  

23   conducted?
  

24       A.   (MS. HYRE) Yes, it was.  It was specific to the
  

25   project and for the conditions at the project site in
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 1   Arizona.
  

 2       Q.   Thank you for that.
  

 3            Another water-related question, Brian, was
  

 4   asking about the depth of the aquifer in this area.
  

 5       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) Yeah, that's right.  So I
  

 6   accessed the data maintained by the Arizona Department of
  

 7   Water Resources.  They described an average depth to
  

 8   groundwater in what they call the Eloy basin as 222 feet
  

 9   below ground surface.  I also accessed the Wells55
  

10   database that I referred to yesterday and looked at just
  

11   a selection of wells along Curtis Road near the project.
  

12   And those depths to groundwater varied between 350 to
  

13   400 feet below ground surface.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

15                 Member Little, you have a question?
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I don't have a question,
  

17   just a comment.  I appreciate what's been stated here and
  

18   it sounds like you guys are well aware that there may be
  

19   some kind of unique issues out there.  I spoke to someone
  

20   who has been around for a very long time and has great
  

21   familiarity with that area.  And that entire area has
  

22   flooded in the past, to the point where it was
  

23   impassable.
  

24                 In addition, I'm not sure, I didn't read
  

25   anything in the application, I'm not sure whether you're
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 1   aware of the fact that the Greene Canal is a pump-back
  

 2   canal, or was, for the agricultural area.  I'm not sure
  

 3   whether it's still being used in that way.  But you're
  

 4   well aware of what's going on out there.  And I know that
  

 5   it's certainly possible to deal with, from an engineering
  

 6   perspective, to deal with whatever you're facing.
  

 7                 Thank you.
  

 8                 MR. ACKEN:  And thank you, Member Little,
  

 9   for flagging that, so that we could confirm that we've
  

10   done what we needed to do there.
  

11                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  Bert, if I may?  Member
  

12   Fant had asked yesterday about the floodplain and I
  

13   discovered it after our conversation.  In the application
  

14   in Exhibit B-2, that's our Aquatic Resources Report,
  

15   Figure 2 does show the FEMA floodplain map, and I
  

16   apologize if I misled you yesterday, but it is pretty
  

17   comprehensive a 1 percent annual flood area, to Member
  

18   Little's point.
  

19   BY MR. ACKEN:
  

20       Q.   So it is consistent with what Member Little
  

21   said, that --
  

22       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) Yes.
  

23       Q.   -- this area floods?
  

24            Okay.  Let's now move to Exhibit 11.  This
  

25   was -- Member Fontes had requested the org chart.
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 1   Sohini, if you could -- if we could blow that up, so that
  

 2   those of us with old eyes can see that.
  

 3            Thank you.
  

 4            And, Sohini, if you could explain for the record
  

 5   Exhibit CC-11.
  

 6       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes, thank you, Bert.
  

 7            So here is the organizational structure that
  

 8   goes from our parent company all the way down to Cactus
  

 9   Flower Solar.  This is the structure it would be in while
  

10   the project's in development.  And when Cypress Creek
  

11   retains and operates the project, we typically enter into
  

12   an equity and debt financing structure, so this will
  

13   change slightly, but it will continue to sit within the
  

14   Cypress Creek organizational umbrella.
  

15                 MEMBER FONTES:  Where is the insurance
  

16   policy held for that for O&M and then any kind of
  

17   liabilities?  Is that at the special purpose entity down
  

18   at the hold co or project co or is that at the corporate
  

19   level?
  

20                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Thank you, Member.  I'm
  

21   not 100 percent sure, but I can -- I can find out.
  

22                 MR. ACKEN:  I see Jennifer has some
  

23   thoughts.
  

24                 MS. HYRE:  I would offer that I believe
  

25   it's at the -- it would be at the Cactus Flower entity,

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 254    VOLUME II    12/09/2025 243

  

 1   holding entity.
  

 2                 MEMBER FONTES:  Okay.  So it's nonrecourse.
  

 3   It's -- everything is tied to where your PPA is going to
  

 4   be, your ITCs, and your insurance are all going to be in
  

 5   that project company?
  

 6                 MS. HYRE:  Correct.
  

 7                 MEMBER FONTES:  Okay.  And then the ITCs
  

 8   will flow up as a dividend to your corporate structure?
  

 9                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Again, apologies, I'm not
  

10   the expert on this, but I can get an answer to you to
  

11   follow up with.
  

12                 MEMBER FONTES:  We've got a $40 million
  

13   property tax you're paying the County, which is
  

14   appreciated by the State of Arizona, but you're probably
  

15   taking out 140 million in ITCs that the federal
  

16   government is giving you, so I kind of want to know how
  

17   that flows.  Obviously, we have jurisdiction over the
  

18   gen-tie, but that's probably the most relevant in terms
  

19   of these environmental mitigations, and we're talking
  

20   about floodplain and things going wrong with the other
  

21   utilities.  And just awareness of that little detail is
  

22   what we want to capture for the record.  Appreciate it.
  

23                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yes.
  

24                 MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Member Fontes.
  

25                 I believe that's my list.  I'd ask -- we
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 1   want to follow up on the break with the natural gas
  

 2   pipeline -- oh, wait, there's one more.  If we could go
  

 3   back to CC-12.
  

 4       Q.   Sohini, another question from Member Comstock
  

 5   was about retail gas service in this area.  Do you recall
  

 6   his line of questioning?
  

 7       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

 8       Q.   And did you do any research to evaluate whether
  

 9   there is retail gas service in this area?
  

10       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

11       Q.   And what did you learn?
  

12       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) So I reached out to one of our
  

13   landowners who -- maybe if I can borrow the mouse just to
  

14   show where his property is -- so he's got a bit of a
  

15   carve-out right here.  And he said that he does not have
  

16   natural gas access at his site.  So that's just one
  

17   datapoint that we collected.
  

18       Q.   And following up on that, Jennifer, did you
  

19   reach out to Southwest Gas directly to inquire about gas
  

20   service in this area?
  

21       A.   (MS. HYRE) I did.  I reached out to Southwest
  

22   Gas directly.  They confirmed that this area south of
  

23   Interstate 10 is within their service territory; however,
  

24   they were not aware of any known gas infrastructure in
  

25   this area.  And based on that, we assume that because
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 1   they could not confirm their knowledge of any gas
  

 2   infrastructure, that within proximity to our project
  

 3   there are not any current gas pipelines regarding
  

 4   residential service.
  

 5       Q.   And to that question of existing infrastructure,
  

 6   Mr. Davis, did you conduct any research looking for
  

 7   existing gas meters or propane tanks in the area?
  

 8       A.   (MR. DAVIS) I did, yes.
  

 9       Q.   And did you see any existing natural gas meters?
  

10       A.   (MR. DAVIS) I did not.
  

11       Q.   Did you see propane tanks?
  

12       A.   (MR. DAVIS) I did see propane tanks.
  

13       Q.   And what did that tell you seeing the propane
  

14   tanks?
  

15       A.   (MR. DAVIS) That they would be independently
  

16   sourced and fueled by that versus having a gas pipeline
  

17   source at that home or residential area or farming area.
  

18                 MR. ACKEN:  So that completes our prepared
  

19   remarks based on yesterday.  Again, I'd like to take a
  

20   break to confer with Member Comstock about the additional
  

21   datapoint about the El Paso line and lateral.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, let's --
  

23   I'll admit your Exhibits CC-11, 12, and 13.
  

24                 (Exhibits CC-11 through CC-13 were
  

25        admitted into evidence.)
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant, did you have a
  

 2   question.
  

 3                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

 4                 Simple question for anybody, this is
  

 5   subjective.  I think this area is losing their CAP water
  

 6   allocation, and this seems extensively farmed.  I'm just
  

 7   curious, the farmers upon whose property where you'll be
  

 8   working have they said, and I'm just curious, is it more
  

 9   lucrative to have the solar properties on their -- on
  

10   their properties now versus farming?
  

11                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Thank you, Member Fant.
  

12   That's a very good question.
  

13                 A couple of our landowners kind of cited
  

14   that as one of the reasons they were wanting and looking
  

15   for another use for their land, given the loss of the CAP
  

16   allocation in this area.  We have a couple of written
  

17   simple letters for the zoning process where they outlined
  

18   exactly what you're saying.  The use for the solar would
  

19   kind of help them move forward without the amount of
  

20   water allocation that they previously needed for farming.
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  Which makes sense with the
  

22   deep groundwater and the cost for pumping it, that this
  

23   looks like an outstanding solar area.  So, okay, thanks.
  

24                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Thank you.
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Minor issue to that -- no,
  

 3   it's not minor.  An additional issue to that is it's a
  

 4   lot easier to open a check with a knife than it is to go
  

 5   out and farm.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you, Member Kryder.
  

 7                 Mr. Acken, so are you ready to take the
  

 8   break and get more information about the gas pipeline?
  

 9                 MR. ACKEN:  I believe so.  I'll just confer
  

10   with my witnesses.
  

11       Q.   Anything else on the points that we've addressed
  

12   so far that we need to cover?
  

13       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Member Fontes, would you be
  

14   able to clarify your question on the ITC with regards
  

15   to -- I guess could you just restate your question?
  

16                 MEMBER FONTES:  Yeah, my question is just
  

17   clarity of where all the financial responsibility's going
  

18   to go that was illustrative.  Because if we have a
  

19   project co, then that's where you're going to have the
  

20   PPA, right, when you win it, and they're going to earn
  

21   the revenue.  I want to see and make sure that that's
  

22   where the insurance is, where ITC is -- is a form of
  

23   revenue, so we want to locate that.  And then make sure
  

24   that we understand if that's registered in Arizona or are
  

25   you going to have it out of state?  Because we talked
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 1   about economic benefits.  We're going to give property
  

 2   tax payments out of that that are linked to the gen-tie
  

 3   line and then we got ultimately the environmental
  

 4   mitigation.  I just want to make sure we got, for the
  

 5   record, what entity all that's going to hold to.
  

 6                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Thank you.
  

 7                 MEMBER FONTES:  Thank you.
  

 8                 MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I
  

 9   think we're ready to take that break and see what
  

10   additional information we can get.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's take an
  

12   approximately 10- to 15-minute recess.
  

13                 We stand in recess.
  

14                 (Recessed from 10:05 a.m. until 10:35.)
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's go back
  

16   on the record.
  

17                 Mr. Acken, I understand we have some new
  

18   exhibits?
  

19                 MR. ACKEN:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Every time
  

20   we get a break, we add exhibits, so -- so we'll see where
  

21   we end up.  But these are -- these are excellent, I
  

22   think.  And then I hope and trust that it's what the
  

23   committee and Member Comstock, in particular, was looking
  

24   for.  And so I want to thank him for help guiding us to
  

25   the right datasets.

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 254    VOLUME II    12/09/2025 249

  

 1                 So we have two additional exhibits, CC-14
  

 2   is a public viewer that shows existing natural gas lines
  

 3   in the project vicinity.  And 15 shows the natural gas
  

 4   crossing of Curtis Road.
  

 5       Q.   And so I'm going to go back to Brian.  If you
  

 6   would, for the record, describe CC-14, including the
  

 7   source of the data from which this was drawn.
  

 8       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) Certainly.
  

 9            At Member Comstock's suggestion, we visited the
  

10   public viewer of the National Pipeline Mapping System and
  

11   we were able to get the information, as shown in CC-14
  

12   exhibit.
  

13            So, as labeled here, the blue lines, the one we
  

14   are familiar with from northwest to southeast is a major
  

15   El Paso Natural Gas line.  The arrow pointing to the
  

16   upper left shows a natural gas line coming off of the
  

17   main line and trending east and then north and then east
  

18   and then north.  Because I'm not a member, I was not able
  

19   to ascertain the ownership of that spur gas line that's
  

20   coming off the main line, but if I understand
  

21   Mr. Comstock correctly, it's likely El Paso Natural Gas.
  

22            The dashed red line on the left side is the
  

23   distance measuring tool that's available within the
  

24   viewer, the public viewer.  And, as shown here, you can
  

25   see that where that spur line comes off of the main line
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 1   is almost exactly three miles north of the Curtis Road
  

 2   alignment, which is the alignment for the proposed
  

 3   project, the proposed transmission line.
  

 4                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Could you repeat that
  

 5   last part?  I'm sorry, could you repeat that last part?
  

 6                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  Absolutely.
  

 7                 So if you look on the image you see a red
  

 8   dashed line.  The red dashed line represents the results
  

 9   of the use of the measuring tool available in the map
  

10   viewer.  And so it measures from the point where the spur
  

11   line comes off of the main line, the two blue lines,
  

12   south to the Curtis Road alignment, which is the
  

13   alignment of our proposed transmission line.  And that
  

14   distance is almost exactly three miles.
  

15                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Thank you.
  

16                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  Certainly.
  

17                 MR. ACKEN:  Thank you.  Next let's turn to
  

18   Exhibit 15.
  

19       Q.   So, Brian, are you in a position to identify
  

20   this for the record?
  

21       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) Yes.
  

22            As I understand what we're looking at here, this
  

23   is the stick-up at the point where the El Paso Natural
  

24   Gas pipeline crosses Curtis Road.  The stick-up is just
  

25   north of the road and just over half a mile west along
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 1   Curtis Road from the proposed nonjurisdictional
  

 2   substation associated with the east end of the project.
  

 3       Q.   And when you use the term "stick-up," what are
  

 4   you referring to?
  

 5       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) The piping coming out of the
  

 6   ground -- and I'll look to Mr. Comstock to correct me
  

 7   here -- but the piping coming out of the ground that
  

 8   allows the El Paso Natural Gas maintenance crew to access
  

 9   the line.
  

10       Q.   Thank you.
  

11            And, Samuel, for the record, where was this
  

12   image obtained from?
  

13       A.   (MR. DAVIS) This was obtained from Google Street
  

14   View.
  

15       Q.   And does the red dot next to Curtis Road show
  

16   the approximate location of the eastern terminus of the
  

17   gen-tie corridor?
  

18       A.   (MR. DAVIS) That's correct.
  

19       Q.   And the figure outlined in yellow, that is the
  

20   location of the street view itself; is that correct?
  

21       A.   (MR. DAVIS) Correct.
  

22       Q.   Is there anything further that you wanted to
  

23   highlight, based on your review of the street view data?
  

24       A.   (MR. DAVIS) Just that on the other side there's
  

25   also a small just stick-up, but then Member -- I'm
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 1   sorry -- Member Comstock directed us to look the other
  

 2   way and, by gosh, there it was, so it's pretty -- labeled
  

 3   very clearly "El Paso Natural Gas" right there.
  

 4       Q.   And do you recall from your review of the street
  

 5   view the proximity of this infrastructure to the existing
  

 6   WAPA line, approximately?
  

 7       A.   (MR. DAVIS) I -- I just see that it is -- it's
  

 8   crossing underneath it.  I imagine it's -- I don't -- I
  

 9   don't quite know.  It does definitely go underneath the
  

10   road, and it's -- it's -- it's accurate with the image
  

11   that we have here, where our yellow line is crossing
  

12   through.
  

13       Q.   Perfect.  Thank you.
  

14            So I offer Exhibits 14 and 15.  And, Member
  

15   Comstock, please correct us if we've misstated or you
  

16   want to amplify any of the comments?
  

17                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you, sir.
  

18                 Just a couple of things.  One, the marker
  

19   that's in front of -- they're referred to as "pipeline
  

20   markers" not "stick-ups," you'd get lost in the natural
  

21   gas industry if you called them that.  The marker that's
  

22   in the front that says "511" is a locating sign for
  

23   airplanes to fly the pipeline.  They use that to do leak
  

24   survey on the pipeline and they do it annually, they'll
  

25   fly that pipeline to look for that.
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 1                 Inside of that fenced-off area are a couple
  

 2   of things, one you'll see the copper rod sticking up.
  

 3   That's for AC mitigation coming off of the power line
  

 4   from which it crosses under.  There will be some type of
  

 5   application for your project should you build it similar
  

 6   to that under your pipeline, depending on how El Paso
  

 7   wants it constructed and how you partner with them.
  

 8                 And there's also a couple of locations
  

 9   inside of that where they can purge gas line -- gas from
  

10   the system should they need to.  The other thing that I'd
  

11   like to emphasize is that this pipeline is the primary
  

12   feed into the Phoenix Valley for Southwest Gas and the
  

13   City of Mesa.  And so if this gets damaged, it's going to
  

14   be a big deal.  So it's important to know -- if I may, it
  

15   crosses at a diagonal, it runs south -- northwest from
  

16   the southeast through that area.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Acken, can you get
  

18   your -- what is it -- Exhibit 12 up on the screen?
  

19                 MR. ACKEN:  Yes, it's up there now.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Can you show us
  

21   where the gas line on Exhibit 14 is located on this map?
  

22   BY MR. ACKEN:
  

23       Q.   I'd ask Brian or Samuel, who are both under
  

24   oath, to confirm that the natural gas pipeline on
  

25   Exhibit 12 is shown in yellow from the -- moving from the
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 1   northwest to the southeast across the field of view.
  

 2       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) That's correct.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Can you point on the map
  

 4   where it is?  Because I'm looking at it and I'm trying to
  

 5   figure out where this is going.
  

 6                 MR. ACKEN:  So the cursor is -- if we can
  

 7   put the cursor right on the route --
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And then put the
  

 9   cursor on where the spur line exits the main line.
  

10                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  Oh, apologies, I
  

11   misunderstood.
  

12                 Approximately at this location up here --
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

14                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  -- at the top of the map.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Because I was
  

16   trying to figure out whether or not that spur line was
  

17   going to go right in the middle of your solar facility.
  

18   I couldn't determine, like, where is -- how is this
  

19   located?  Okay, I see.  So it's significantly further
  

20   north?
  

21                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  That's correct.  And so, I
  

22   apologize, this was a fairly quick and dirty image.  I'm
  

23   in CC-14 right now.  So Curtis Road alignment is along
  

24   here.  Our solar facility is going to be roughly out here
  

25   somewhere, well southeast of that spur line.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And so we've
  

 2   confirmed that that spur is owned by El Paso?
  

 3                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  We have not.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  You have not.
  

 5                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  The suspicion is that it
  

 6   is.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Likely.  All right.  Well,
  

 8   that's -- so we have some suspicions about who owns what
  

 9   in the area.  We've got -- there's that spur line we're
  

10   unclear about.  There's the second circuit that's
  

11   co- -- that's sharing the poles with the WAPA line.
  

12                 Are we sure that the WAPA line is 115, it
  

13   wasn't upgraded to 230, and it shares another 230 line
  

14   there with somebody else?
  

15                 MR. ACKEN:  That's the best information we
  

16   have at this moment in time.  We know it is 115 or
  

17   greater, and that there is double circuit.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

20                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Question for our gas
  

21   expert.  Do we call these "spurs" properly?
  

22                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  They're -- Member Kryder,
  

23   they're referred to as "spurs" or "laterals," depends on
  

24   the nomenclature used by the operator of the pipeline
  

25   system.

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 254    VOLUME II    12/09/2025 256

  

 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  So they are
  

 2   interchangeable "spur" and "lateral"?
  

 3                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  It's my belief that they
  

 4   are.  And that -- it looks like on the aerial views that
  

 5   that is an agricultural lateral.  It looks like it serves
  

 6   hothouses at some point along the line.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant?
  

 8                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

 9                 It's similar to the distinction between
  

10   dais and lectern and podium.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes.
  

12                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  I'm still not sure what
  

13   that is, Member Fant, but I'm pretty sure about spur.
  

14                 MEMBER FANT:  Just a question,
  

15   informational question.  Do they still fly pipelines in
  

16   the airplanes or do they use drones now to inspect them
  

17   or --
  

18                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Depending on the
  

19   operator, they'll use a combination of both for these
  

20   long pipelines like El Paso has here, they'll fly them.
  

21   But there's a lot of companies that have moved to drone
  

22   survey.  However, FAA regulations sometimes prohibits you
  

23   because it's got to be point of sight or line of sight
  

24   for drone operation, and so that limits their capability
  

25   to fly long stretches.
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 1                 But the technology is available and is very
  

 2   accurate in determining if there's a leak or not on the
  

 3   pipeline.  Should they find a leak by flying it, they'll
  

 4   actually send a ground crew out to examine the location
  

 5   once they locate the leak.
  

 6                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you.
  

 7                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  You're welcome.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Don't they use something
  

 9   inside the pipeline to check things as well, isn't it a
  

10   PIG or what's it called?
  

11                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  The PIG is an internal
  

12   inspection device.  It's affectionately called a PIG, but
  

13   the -- its main purpose is to clean the pipeline or to
  

14   inspect for internal corrosion or dents on the pipeline.
  

15   In this case, on this one, I believe El Paso would have
  

16   to run an internal inspection device every seven years
  

17   through that based on whatever the regulation is of the
  

18   states.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's see,
  

20   we'll admit your Exhibits 14 and 15.
  

21                 (Exhibits CC-14 and CC-15 were admitted
  

22        into evidence.)
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is there anything else,
  

24   Mr. Acken?
  

25                 MR. ACKEN:  Chairman Stafford, nothing else
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 1   from this morning.  There may be some cleanup or further
  

 2   discussion during deliberation on a couple items.  What
  

 3   I'd like to do at this time is kind of go back and grab
  

 4   the big picture.
  

 5       Q.   And for that ask Sohini to provide some
  

 6   concluding thoughts for the committee as a -- as you
  

 7   evaluate this project.
  

 8       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Thank you, Bert.
  

 9            Yeah, I just wanted to, first of all, thank the
  

10   committee for your really thoughtful questions and
  

11   discussion, both today and yesterday.  We appreciate the
  

12   intent to get completeness on the information provided in
  

13   both our application and testimony.
  

14            We're really excited about this project,
  

15   especially given the location, the fact that it's
  

16   environmental -- environmentally compatible and locally
  

17   compatible too.  We're really happy that we were able to
  

18   come to you having obtained our County entitlements.  And
  

19   we're proud that we have really great support from the
  

20   local community and representatives.
  

21            We appreciate your consideration on our CEC
  

22   application.  Thank you.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.  Any other
  

24   questions from members?
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I have a question that
  

 3   doesn't necessarily have any bearing on this case, but as
  

 4   I was reading through the application I was curious about
  

 5   it.  In the biological study, what -- what is a "take
  

 6   study" and there was a reference to "no take," and I
  

 7   wasn't quite sure what that meant.
  

 8                 Thank you.
  

 9                 MR. ACKEN:  Member Little, I'm going to
  

10   direct that to Jennifer, who is reaching for the
  

11   microphone.
  

12                 MS. HYRE:  Thank you.
  

13                 The reference to a take study refers to our
  

14   analysis on whether the project would cause a take of a
  

15   species protected under the Endangered Species Act,
  

16   whether it be a federally endangered species or a
  

17   threatened federal species.
  

18                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And the take refers -- I'm
  

19   sorry.
  

20                 MR. ACKEN:  Go ahead, Member Little.
  

21                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So "take" refers to
  

22   accidental killing of animals, to put it bluntly?
  

23                 MS. HYRE:  Correct.  Yes.  The -- under the
  

24   ESA, the take definition is broadly defined as "To
  

25   harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap,
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 1   capture, or collect, or attempt of any of those actions,
  

 2   which is illegal."
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

 4                 MS. HYRE:  You're welcome.
  

 5                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I appreciate it.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant?
  

 7                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah, thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

 8                 Sohini -- and I call you Sohini, because I
  

 9   can't pronounce your last name, and I apologize.  I don't
  

10   have my glasses on, so I can't see that far.  Yeah, this
  

11   area, the cities, you can go right down the list you can
  

12   come down Pinal -- down through Pinal County, Queen
  

13   Creek, Apache Junction, Coolidge, Florence, Casa Grande,
  

14   Eloy, all have double-digit growth rates.  And the
  

15   Saguaro Substation, which is to your southeast, is
  

16   evolving into a, I think, evolving into a major power
  

17   marketing hub.  So it's a good time to be where you are.
  

18                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Thank you, Member Fant.
  

19   Appreciate that comment.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Any other questions from
  

21   members?
  

22                 (No response.)
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So I guess when
  

24   we get to the Certificate, what's the -- so I guess for
  

25   your map you're going to be able to add that spur line
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 1   from the main one to the map to show that so it's -- the
  

 2   infrastructure is on the map and we're talking about
  

 3   the -- this project?
  

 4                 MR. ACKEN:  Yes, Chairman.  What I hear you
  

 5   saying is on our final map that would attach to the CEC,
  

 6   you would like us to include the spur map, to the extent
  

 7   that it is -- can be seen on the map, it may be on the
  

 8   very north end.  So we would do that.  I would -- I would
  

 9   suggest that the committee has the authority, with your
  

10   election, to direct us to, you know, do additional
  

11   homework.  And we can either identify names and put it in
  

12   a late-filed exhibit, great, we'll do what we can, so we
  

13   have more precision, to the extent we can grab it.
  

14                 The other thing is, is, you know, I hate do
  

15   this, but I wanted to say a couple -- a couple final
  

16   comments.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, you'll get to do your
  

18   closing here at some point.
  

19                 MR. ACKEN:  Oh, okay.  I thought you were
  

20   moving on to deliberations.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No, no, no, I'm just --
  

22   before we get to that, because --
  

23                 MR. ACKEN:  I've got to say my piece.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- it kind of bothers me
  

25   that we're not sure what that line going on the north
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 1   side of Curtis Road is.  We can see it's double circuit.
  

 2   It seems like we're getting some conflicting information.
  

 3   It looks like a 230 -- double-circuit 230-kV, but WAPA's
  

 4   saying it's a 115.  Did that get, as part of their
  

 5   upgrade, did it get converted to a 230?  I mean -- and
  

 6   who owns the other one?  You're going to have to find
  

 7   that out to cross it.  So it kind of -- those vagaries
  

 8   vex me somewhat.
  

 9                 MR. ACKEN:  Understood.  We will endeavor,
  

10   and I think we are continuing to see what we can run down
  

11   with the various datasets that we have access to, as well
  

12   as the various individuals that we can reach out to and
  

13   connect with, and see at some point, even before
  

14   deliberations are complete, if we can have that.  But
  

15   even if that doesn't occur, it would be our plan to
  

16   continue to do that work and late file something that
  

17   shows this is what's there, and here's the information on
  

18   which it's based.  So that that -- you could have a map
  

19   that's as accurate and current as we can possibly put
  

20   together for you.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

22                 Member Fant?
  

23                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

24                 I think Mr. Fontes -- Member Fontes had it
  

25   right, that's the Palo Verde to ED5/Test Track project.
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 1   You know, I'm not an electrical engineer, but those may
  

 2   be actually both functional 230-kVs, but I think WAPA
  

 3   operates it at a lower voltage.  I'm not an electrical
  

 4   engineer, and I think somebody can -- that's what I know
  

 5   about the project from a while back, especially if it
  

 6   were built above 2015 and '16.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member DiCiccio, did you
  

 8   have a question?
  

 9                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  No, I just hadn't heard
  

10   about how you can transfer a 230 to a 115, I don't know
  

11   how that works, but that was just more of a thought.
  

12                 MEMBER FONTES:  I believe that it was
  

13   originally built as 230-kV structures and have a single
  

14   circuit.  And, as I recall, a second circuit was put on
  

15   it, and they did some reconductor.  But my information is
  

16   about a decade old in terms of planning.  But I would
  

17   definitely urge you to go back to WAPA for that.
  

18                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Mr. Chair?
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member DiCiccio.
  

20                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  So I would recommend
  

21   that, you know, again, we're looking for completeness on
  

22   this.  You know, just to give you just a little history
  

23   too, there was another project that I felt was incomplete
  

24   and I just voted against it, you know?  And so, you know,
  

25   I'm trying to be as gentle as I can on this.  I just feel
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 1   like some of the information is just not complete or it's
  

 2   a lot of we think this is it or we anticipate this is
  

 3   what it's going to be.
  

 4                 I would strongly recommend that before we
  

 5   get to the vote you do more than just try.  I mean, just
  

 6   get it done.  Call the right people.  Do what you have to
  

 7   do.  I mean, that's where your expertise is at and just
  

 8   get it accomplished.  I mean, I don't -- and it's also a
  

 9   message to any other group that comes in front of us.  We
  

10   saw this not the -- the presentation -- I think you did
  

11   the one in Flagstaff, didn't you?  Was that yours?
  

12                 MR. ACKEN:  Yes.
  

13                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  You were amazing.  That
  

14   was probably one of the best presentations I've ever seen
  

15   in my life, by far.  It was amazing.  I came out of that
  

16   thinking that everything was completed, every question
  

17   was answered, every dot was -- you know, every "i" was
  

18   doted, every "t" was crossed, everything.  I mean, you
  

19   were -- I came out of there thinking, wow, this guy's got
  

20   it, you know, he's got it down, you know?
  

21                 So it's just the level of incompleteness
  

22   that I think it has to be a message going forward that
  

23   before people come to us, you know, not necessarily here,
  

24   but they just got to get it all done.  You know, they
  

25   can't come in and anticipate or think this is what it is.
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 1   Or we feel that -- I mean, I even heard this on the line,
  

 2   I'm sitting here thinking, no, we don't think.  It's not
  

 3   our job to think, we have to know what those are.
  

 4                 And it's not just for, you know, I'm
  

 5   reiterating what I said earlier, it's for the future too,
  

 6   for people to be able to say this is what's out here.
  

 7   This is what we need to do.  And so, yes, it may not be
  

 8   specific to your CEC, but it really is important to the
  

 9   State of Arizona to know what's happening with their
  

10   transmission lines, because they've made this a high
  

11   priority.  Now the federal government's going to make it
  

12   a high priority, and the more information we have to make
  

13   a logical and detailed decision, the better off it's
  

14   going to be.
  

15                 So it's not meant to -- I'm not trying to
  

16   criticize you too much, I am doing a little bit.  But
  

17   what I saw up in Flagstaff and what I'm seeing today are
  

18   two different worlds.  They're just two different worlds.
  

19   So I would strongly recommend, on my end at least, come
  

20   back with it.  Come back with the information.  Just come
  

21   back with it.  You'll figure it out.
  

22                 Thank you.
  

23                 MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Chairman Stafford,
  

24   Member DiCiccio.  I'm going to focus on your kind words
  

25   about the project in Flagstaff and say thank you.
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 1                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  You're welcome.
  

 2                 MR. ACKEN:  And I'll also note that every
  

 3   project is unique and every project you do what you can
  

 4   with the information that you have.  With that said, I
  

 5   hear what you're saying.  I think I would like to move
  

 6   forward today.  I think we have a great project.  And I
  

 7   think in the course of the next couple hours this team is
  

 8   going to be working hard to accomplish what you're asking
  

 9   for.
  

10                 And so -- so that's my commitment to you
  

11   that we will do that and do more than try and get you the
  

12   answers that you want.  And then at the appropriate time
  

13   I'd like to, you know, say my piece as to why I think
  

14   this is a great project and you should vote for it even
  

15   if you don't have all that information.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant?
  

17                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

18                 A potential answer to Member DiCiccio's
  

19   concern.  You can call K.R. Saline out in Mesa, give Ken
  

20   and Dennis Delaney a call and they'll give you the
  

21   information you need, since they represent all the
  

22   electrical and irrigation districts.
  

23                 MR. ACKEN:  Yeah, good suggestion.  Thank
  

24   you.
  

25                 MEMBER FANT:  Step out.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, I think,
  

 2   with that, we have will have Mr. Albert [sic] give us his
  

 3   closing if he's ready.  And then I would suggest we
  

 4   recess until 1:00 to come back, by which time they should
  

 5   have all the information that the committee needs for
  

 6   the -- what's the total environmental of the area, what
  

 7   other infrastructure we're looking at that's there for us
  

 8   to add to the map.  And I think at that point we'll be
  

 9   ready to consider -- to deliberate the Certificate, if
  

10   you've got all the information that the members require.
  

11                 MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Chairman.
  

12                 So, yeah, we'll do it a little different.
  

13   I'll say my spiel and then we'll supplement it.  I do
  

14   think this is a good project.  I do think you should look
  

15   at each project on its own.  And each project has
  

16   strengths and perhaps some weaknesses.
  

17                 The strengths of this project are very,
  

18   very clear.  We're in a rural, remote area.  We have
  

19   landowner support for the solar field.  We're paralleling
  

20   existing transmission line for three miles.  We're then
  

21   on State Land subject to a State Land lease for the
  

22   remainder.  You have widespread public support.  Now,
  

23   widespread public support in a rural area may not be a
  

24   lot of people, but what you didn't hear is opposition to
  

25   this project in this proceeding.  Instead you heard
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 1   support.
  

 2                 We had four public comment letters,
  

 3   including from a mayor of a nearby jurisdiction.  You had
  

 4   three public speakers who came at this from diverse
  

 5   perspectives and points of view, economic benefits,
  

 6   environmental protection.  And when you see a project
  

 7   like that, I hope it sends off the alarm -- sends off the
  

 8   tell that, wow, this is a thoughtful project.  This is a
  

 9   thoughtfully sited, this is a thoughtfully located
  

10   project that is both -- that has that social license from
  

11   the community and minimizes environmental impacts.
  

12                 And not all projects can have that.  If
  

13   you're in an area that has more infrastructure, has more
  

14   residential, guess what, they're not going to have the
  

15   same strength of story that this project does on
  

16   environmental compatibility.  They're just not going to
  

17   be able to.  So they have to do other things to make the
  

18   case.  But I've done this a long time, and this is -- has
  

19   to be, if not the strongest, one of the strongest public
  

20   engagement stories I've brought to this committee.
  

21                 You've got an applicant that has been
  

22   involved and engaged in this community for three years.
  

23   And it's not just paying lip service, doing an open
  

24   house, sending out a flier and ignoring the public
  

25   comment.  For three years members of this team have been
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 1   engaged in the local community.  Doing what?  Building
  

 2   relationships.  We talked about contributions to the
  

 3   local college.  We talked about scholarships, with no
  

 4   strings attached.  This is about building relationships,
  

 5   building a community.
  

 6                 And so I'm happy and proud to be bringing
  

 7   this project to you for that reason.  And I know there's
  

 8   some sensitivity at the committee and at the Commission
  

 9   these days, you know, we must be mindful of other cases.
  

10   And there was another case recently that this committee
  

11   is very well aware of where the Commission was concerned
  

12   about the public notice and the public engagement.  And
  

13   you will all get the opportunity to see it again.
  

14                 And I thought what Commissioner Myers said
  

15   was instructive: "Community notification is not the same
  

16   as community engagement.  The community needs to be heard
  

17   and their concerns need to be properly addressed."  I
  

18   think I've heard that from committee members over time.
  

19   I think that is a consistent message from several of you,
  

20   and it's certainly the direction of the Commission and,
  

21   what a coincidence, the very next project you get to hear
  

22   hits all those marks.  This project satisfies the
  

23   Commission's direction for community engagement in a way
  

24   that few, if any, other projects can.
  

25                 So at the end of the day we will ask for
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 1   your support.  Member DiCiccio, I understand your
  

 2   concern.  I think we've addressed it in a way that this
  

 3   committee can take comfort approving the project as is.
  

 4   We will still endeavor over the lunch break to provide
  

 5   even further information.  But I believe you have a great
  

 6   project in front of you, thoroughly vetted on
  

 7   environmental, community support, and oh, by the way I
  

 8   should mention, has its County entitlements in place.
  

 9                 So with that, we will respectfully request
  

10   that you grant the CEC for this project.  Thank you.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I'm sorry, I should have
  

15   asked this question prior, but I was kind of waiting for
  

16   the right time and it didn't seem to happen.
  

17                 Did I miss something or did they -- did
  

18   fish and game not send a letter?  We usually see a letter
  

19   from fish and game that outlines mitigation measures, and
  

20   I --
  

21                 MR. ACKEN:  Member Little, I --
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Go ahead.
  

23                 MR. ACKEN:  I'm sorry, Member Little.  It's
  

24   hard when I can't see you, so I apologize for talking
  

25   over you.  Jennifer touched on that, but I'd like her to
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 1   elaborate her response on that question, because you are
  

 2   correct, our proposed condition is slightly different
  

 3   than some of the others you have seen, because it's
  

 4   specific to mitigation measures in the application and
  

 5   the biological resource evaluation, not additional Game
  

 6   and Fish recommendations.
  

 7       Q.   But, Jennifer, if you could elaborate and
  

 8   restate your testimony on that point.
  

 9       A.   (MS. HYRE) Absolutely.
  

10            We reached out proactively to the Arizona
  

11   Department of Game and Fish for the project.  We received
  

12   initial guidance and feedback from them regarding their
  

13   recommended typical mitigation measures regarding siting
  

14   of transmission lines.  Through consultation and working
  

15   with the State Land Office, that is where we've completed
  

16   our biological evaluation, which we have submitted to the
  

17   State Land Office.  Upon their review, we anticipate
  

18   additional communication and consultation with Arizona
  

19   Game and Fish since the State Land Office is that lead
  

20   state agency in this process in which we're participating
  

21   for the gen-tie line.
  

22            So we do anticipate that we will receive more
  

23   feedback from that agency and we are working with the
  

24   State Land Office for that process in granting our
  

25   easement.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.  That answers my
  

 2   question about the Game and Fish letter.  I would just
  

 3   like to say at this point that that particular condition
  

 4   in the CEC, which is Condition 3, I believe -- no,
  

 5   Condition --
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is it 5?
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- 5.  Uh-huh.
  

 8                 I would like to maybe have some discussion
  

 9   about whether the language in that covers not only what
  

10   has already been provided in the CEC, but also what may
  

11   be forthcoming from Game and Fish.
  

12                 Thank you.
  

13                 MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Member Little, for
  

14   the preview, and -- and understand the question and the
  

15   comment.
  

16                 Thank you.
  

17                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman?
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Comstock.
  

19                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  If I may, and again, just
  

20   to maybe support Member DiCiccio in some fashion, I think
  

21   that the community outreach for the applicant was
  

22   amazing.  They did a great job in contacting folks who
  

23   are close by the project, but not involved with the
  

24   project.  And I think in some cases if after three years
  

25   at the nth hour we're seeing where the gas line -- a
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 1   major gas line crosses the project, so maybe the
  

 2   community engagement was at the detriment to the project
  

 3   itself.
  

 4                 And I just want to make sure that we
  

 5   understand that in Arizona we're concerned about what's
  

 6   above ground as well as underground.  And it's important
  

 7   to know this.  And I -- I hope that when we come back
  

 8   we'll have all the information in place and to the
  

 9   adequate nature that's necessary, but I'm concerned that
  

10   we didn't see that until 10:30 this morning, and we
  

11   weren't -- I don't see it on any maps or anything in the
  

12   application booklet that I got.
  

13                 So I just want to make sure that that's
  

14   known and that it's on the record that we need to pay
  

15   attention to the project, as well as the people around
  

16   the project.
  

17                 Thank you.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

19                 All right.  Well, Mr. Acken, you and your
  

20   team have some work to do.  We will recess until 1:00, at
  

21   which time we will come back and we can begin discussion
  

22   of the Certificate itself.
  

23                 We stand in recess.
  

24                 (Recessed from 11:10 a.m. until 1:09 p.m.)
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's go back
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 1   on the record.
  

 2                 Mr. Acken, I believe you have one more
  

 3   exhibit for us.
  

 4                 MR. ACKEN:  One more exhibit and a little
  

 5   bit more cleanup.  I'm going all out of order today.
  

 6   Thank you for your indulgence.  I wanted to go back to
  

 7   Sohini to follow up on the questions from Member Fontes
  

 8   on organizational structure and who is responsible within
  

 9   that organizational structure for any obligations imposed
  

10   pursuant to agreements, entitlements, and I think he also
  

11   asked about where does ITC flow within that
  

12   organizational structure.
  

13       Q.   So, with that intro, Sohini, did you get a
  

14   chance to run that to ground?
  

15       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

16       Q.   And if you could respond.
  

17       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yeah.
  

18            So the project's responsibility and liability
  

19   rests with the project-level special purpose entity.
  

20   That entity is the owner of hard assets in Arizona and is
  

21   the counter-party to the PPA.  Because of that structure,
  

22   the PPA revenue flows directly to the special purpose
  

23   entity as the SPE, special purpose entity, is the
  

24   contractual project owner delivering energy to that
  

25   offtaker or customer.
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 1            With regards to the investment tax credits,
  

 2   that's earned by the project asset itself, which means
  

 3   that the SPE is the entity that generates the ITC.  Now,
  

 4   after that how the ITC benefit is ultimately allocated
  

 5   depends on the financing structure, particularly tax
  

 6   equity, but the credit originates at the project entity
  

 7   itself.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And that is Cactus Flower
  

 9   Solar, LLC?
  

10                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Correct.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fontes?
  

12                 MEMBER FONTES:  Just for clarification,
  

13   that's an Arizona --
  

14                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yes.
  

15                 MEMBER FONTES:  -- business entity?
  

16                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yes.
  

17                 MEMBER FONTES:  Thank you.  You've
  

18   satisfied my requirements, that's exactly what was
  

19   missing from the slide deck.  Really appreciate you going
  

20   to get that.  We know the high-level stuff, but we're
  

21   here in Arizona, we've got to pin it to the ground, so
  

22   appreciate it.
  

23                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Thank you for the
  

24   question.
  

25                 MR. ACKEN:  Okay.  Thank you, Member
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 1   Fontes.  I had another question for Sohini that I missed
  

 2   earlier.  This was a question from Member DiCiccio about
  

 3   the BESS, what does augmentation mean?  And I -- that
  

 4   was -- well, it was on my list and I skipped it.
  

 5       Q.   So, Sohini, can you respond to that?
  

 6       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Yes.
  

 7            So battery systems degrade gradually over time,
  

 8   meaning their ability to store and discharge energy
  

 9   decreases as the equipment ages and cycles.  To maintain
  

10   the performance that the project has been designed for
  

11   and contracted to deliver, we plan a battery augmentation
  

12   over the life of the facility.
  

13            So this is like specifically scheduled at
  

14   certain points in time.  All batteries degrade over time
  

15   at similar rates, so the augmentation strategy involves
  

16   adding additional capacity, not replacing existing units,
  

17   so we would keep the existing container in place, and add
  

18   new containers and battery packs as the augmentation.
  

19            To get a little bit more specific on what that
  

20   actually means, on similar projects we've added roughly
  

21   10 to 12 percent augmentation at set points in the
  

22   project life.  So an example from another project is
  

23   typically around year seven and 14, but this is dependent
  

24   on the specific design.  These additions allow the system
  

25   to maintain at least 98 percent of the contracted output
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 1   through year 20.
  

 2            We talked about this a little bit yesterday, but
  

 3   just to confirm that at that 20-year point that's a good
  

 4   time to evaluate new technology, the condition of the
  

 5   battery facility in operation, and if it makes sense to
  

 6   do a full replacement of the batteries or continue to
  

 7   just augment as we've been doing up until that point.
  

 8   And just to -- just to say that augmentation is a
  

 9   standard industry practice.  So this will be done on
  

10   other battery storage projects too.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant?
  

12                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

13                 Going back to a question I asked
  

14   previously, would you have an equivalent amount of
  

15   battery storage to your megawatt energy output on your
  

16   solar field if you weren't forced by the transmission
  

17   provider to have that much?  Does it make sense
  

18   economically to have, say, 100 megawatts of solar panels
  

19   and 100 megawatts of BESS, or is that a
  

20   transmission-driven decision, if you can answer it?
  

21                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yes.  Thank you, Member
  

22   Fant.
  

23                 We do it, as we discussed yesterday, based
  

24   on the transmission provider's preference, but I can
  

25   confirm whether or not we would still have that.  We'd
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 1   initially made a request that the battery for this
  

 2   project was slightly smaller, it was 200 versus 270, so I
  

 3   mean, the difference between those two is not too much,
  

 4   but the assumptions have changed, we got input from the
  

 5   utility that that was their preference, so that was the
  

 6   reason that we moved it up to one to one, but we're
  

 7   seeing that across other utilities as well, that
  

 8   one-to-one preference.
  

 9                 MEMBER FANT:  Just the same --
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Wait one second, Member
  

12   Fant's still asking a question.
  

13                 MEMBER FANT:  If you can answer this,
  

14   adding additional battery storage to an existing
  

15   facility, is that on a geometric basis cost-wise or just
  

16   straight arithmetic?  You add another battery pack it
  

17   cost X dollars?
  

18                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Member Fant, just to
  

19   clarify, so are you asking just increasing the capacity
  

20   from --
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  Right --
  

22                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  -- the initial 200 to now
  

23   270?
  

24                 MEMBER FANT:  From 200 to 250 or whatever
  

25   it may be.  Is there some sort of geometric effect to the
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 1   cost to build your battery storage or is it arithmetic,
  

 2   you have 10 battery packs it costs 10X, if you have 12
  

 3   battery packs, it costs 12X --
  

 4                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yeah, I --
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  -- is there some sort of
  

 6   savings in --
  

 7                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yeah, no, I appreciate
  

 8   the question.  I think it's probably a little bit less
  

 9   linear than just adding the battery packs, because it's
  

10   all the associated costs as well --
  

11                 MEMBE FANT:  Costs.
  

12                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  -- with the installation.
  

13                 MEMBER FANT:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little?
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

16                 Just a clarification.  I'm wondering who
  

17   "the utility" is in this conversation, APS?
  

18                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Thank you, Member Little.
  

19   That's correct.
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  I don't have a copy
  

22   of the Exhibit 16.
  

23                 MEMBER FANT:  Here it is.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Do you have other questions
  

25   to follow up on before we get to Exhibit 16?
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 1                 MR. ACKEN:  No -- oh, you do have it?
  

 2                 No, I think we're ready to turn to CC-16
  

 3   when the committee's ready.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Member Little,
  

 5   Member Fontes, do you have a copy of what's been marked
  

 6   as Exhibit CC-16?  It should have been emailed to you.
  

 7                 MEMBER FONTES:  From Mr. Acken?
  

 8                 MR. ACKEN:  Yes, it came from me.
  

 9                 MEMBER FONTES:  I received it.
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:
  

11                 (No audible response.)
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm seeing nods from Member
  

13   Little.
  

14                 All right.  Mr. Acken, can you please tell
  

15   us what's different about Exhibit 16?
  

16                 MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Chairman.
  

17                 For this I'm going to turn to Jennifer, who
  

18   remains under oath and assisted in the research to
  

19   develop this.  So what we heard was a desire or --
  

20   desire or demand -- request for additional specificity on
  

21   the existing lines in the area.
  

22       Q.   So, Jennifer, is -- before you dive into the
  

23   details, is that what Exhibit CC-16 represents, our
  

24   effort to be responsive to those requests?
  

25       A.   (MS. HYRE) Yes, that's correct.
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 1       Q.   And to obtain additional information, did we
  

 2   speak with Stephen Foster?
  

 3       A.   (MS. HYRE) We did, yes.  Stephen Foster of
  

 4   KSR -- KRSA.
  

 5       Q.   And commonly known in these parts as K.R.
  

 6   Saline; is that correct?
  

 7       A.   (MS. HYRE) Correct.  Yes.
  

 8       Q.   And you are aware that Mr. Foster has previously
  

 9   testified before this committee in two cases in 2023; is
  

10   that correct?
  

11       A.   (MS. HYRE) That's my understanding, correct.
  

12       Q.   And Mr. Foster is familiar with the electrical
  

13   infrastructure in this area, due to his representation of
  

14   a number of electrical districts; is that correct?
  

15       A.   (MS. HYRE) That is correct.
  

16       Q.   With that background, can you tell the committee
  

17   what you learned with respect to the existing
  

18   transmission lines that can be seen on CC-16?
  

19       A.   (MS. HYRE) Happy to.
  

20            I was going to try to drive with the mouse.
  

21   That's not going to work.  Let me just -- hold on just
  

22   one second while we reconfigure things ever so slightly.
  

23            Okay.  What we learned through our additional
  

24   research since our last recess was that the
  

25   existing -- the existing WAPA line coming out
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 1   of -- coming out of the Empire Substation to the north
  

 2   here, if you can see where my hand is, the substation is
  

 3   further north of there, the existing WAPA line is coming
  

 4   out of the Empire Substation coming south -- it's a
  

 5   U configuration, essentially.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Are you pointing at
  

 7   something with the -- the -- are you pointing at
  

 8   something on the map?  Okay, now I can see it.  Before I
  

 9   couldn't see where it was.
  

10                 MS. HYRE:  It is -- it is hard to see.
  

11   Forgive me.
  

12                 The existing WAPA line configuration is
  

13   essentially a U configuration coming out of the Empire
  

14   Substation coming south to Curtis Road, where it goes
  

15   east to the ED5 Substation, which then goes to the north
  

16   to the Pinal -- to the Pinal Central Substation.  That
  

17   existing line that is there from the Empire sub down to
  

18   the ED5 sub, it is currently -- it is constructed for a
  

19   230 circuit.  There is, on the one side the 230 circuit,
  

20   on the other side a 115 circuit.
  

21   BY MR. ACKEN:
  

22       Q.   Before -- so before you move forward, just to
  

23   clarify for the record, from the Empire Substation, which
  

24   is north of this map area south along what we've
  

25   previously identified as the Toltec alignment, and then
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 1   east along Curtis, it's your testimony that that is
  

 2   constructed as a double-circuit 230-kV transmission line
  

 3   that is currently operated with one circuit at 115-kV and
  

 4   a second circuit at 230-kV; is that correct?
  

 5       A.   (MS. HYRE) Yes, that is correct.
  

 6       Q.   Okay.  Please continue.
  

 7       A.   (MS. HYRE) Thank you.
  

 8            Once the WAPA line exits from the ED5 Substation
  

 9   to go north to the Pinal Central Substation, the current
  

10   line is existing with a circuit operationally as 115.
  

11   The other circuit of the 230 is currently in
  

12   construction.  That construction is estimated to be
  

13   completed by the end of the year.  That construction then
  

14   will complete that U configuration to where the entire
  

15   line will be of the same operating circuit.
  

16       Q.   In addition to the U, double-circuit WAPA line
  

17   shown on the map, there is an existing what is shown as
  

18   an APS 230-kV line also on that 11 Mile Corner Road
  

19   alignment.  What can you tell the committee about that
  

20   line?  Is it an existing line?
  

21       A.   (MS. HYRE) Correct.  The APS -- the APS 230 line
  

22   is an existing line.  It is parallel and separate from
  

23   the WAPA line.
  

24       Q.   So along the 11 Mile Corner Road alignment,
  

25   there are two sets of parallel structures; is that
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 1   correct?
  

 2       A.   (MS. HYRE) That is correct.
  

 3       Q.   On one set of structures is APS's 230-kV line?
  

 4       A.   (MS. HYRE) Correct.
  

 5       Q.   And on the other set of structures currently is
  

 6   a WAPA 115 circuit line and a 230 line under
  

 7   construction?
  

 8       A.   (MS. HYRE) That is correct.
  

 9       Q.   Okay.  Thank you.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little, you have a
  

11   question?
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.  Thank you very much
  

13   for getting all of that information.  It's very useful.
  

14                 My question is, why you did not
  

15   interconnect with APS on the 230 line that runs north and
  

16   south adjacent or right on the boundary of your solar
  

17   field?  I'm assuming it's because APS told you they
  

18   wanted you on the other line?
  

19                 MS. HYRE:  That is a good question.  I will
  

20   defer to Sohini for that answer.
  

21                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Thank you, Member Little.
  

22                 That's correct.  That line was too
  

23   congested.
  

24                 MR. ACKEN:  Did you hear that, Member
  

25   Little?
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  She's confirming my
  

 2   assumption that it is -- that it's because APS said they
  

 3   didn't want you on the north/south --
  

 4                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yes.
  

 5                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- line, they wanted you on
  

 6   the line that's to be interconnected to it with this
  

 7   project?
  

 8                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Yes, Member Little,
  

 9   confirming that your assumption is correct.
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  She also stated that the
  

12   reason for that is that the APS line is too congested.
  

13                 MR. ACKEN:  Okay.  There were also some
  

14   questions about the El Paso Natural Gas line and as well
  

15   as the spur line from it.  And we did -- we were able to
  

16   add the spur line from the El Paso Natural Gas line that
  

17   we talked about previously.
  

18       Q.   Brian, what did you learn about that spur line?
  

19       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) Yeah, we did a little Googling,
  

20   and determined that in 2021 Brightmark Renewable Gas
  

21   teamed with Chevron and the Caballero Dairy to develop a
  

22   methane collection system that would put natural gas into
  

23   the line.  So the gas in this line actually flows back
  

24   towards the main line.
  

25       Q.   And what is the colloquial terminology for that?
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 1       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) We bandied about a number of
  

 2   those, actually, Mr. Acken.  I'll -- I'll defer your
  

 3   question.
  

 4       Q.   Oh, Jeez.
  

 5            Is there a reason that that was not previously
  

 6   identified in the studies, that methane spur?
  

 7       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) That's correct.  Our focus for
  

 8   the study had been largely within a two-mile radius of
  

 9   the line.  And, as we discussed earlier, this -- this
  

10   tie-in is approximately three miles away from the
  

11   east/west alignment of the proposed gen-tie.
  

12       Q.   Is it typical to use a two-mile radius for a
  

13   study area in a CEC application?
  

14       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) It is.
  

15       Q.   And why is that?
  

16       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) The assumption in using the
  

17   two-mile radius is that any infrastructure or resources
  

18   beyond that two-mile radius are unlikely to affect or be
  

19   affected by the proposed project.
  

20       Q.   Is there anything further you wanted to share
  

21   with respect to your evaluation of the gas lines in this
  

22   area?
  

23       A.   (MR. LINDENLAUB) No.
  

24       Q.   Okay.  Thank you.
  

25            I'd offer CC-16 for admission.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Exhibit CC-16
  

 2   is admitted.
  

 3                 (Exhibit CC-16 was admitted into evidence.)
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant, you have a
  

 5   question?
  

 6                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

 7                 Mr. Lindenlaub -- Lindenlaub, I'm sorry, I
  

 8   haven't asked this question before.  I just wanted to get
  

 9   it in the record.  The proposed route for the
  

10   transmission line looks like it follows along the section
  

11   lines on the state property -- properties?
  

12                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  That's correct.
  

13                 MEMBER FANT:  Okay.  So they're -- I know
  

14   they prefer to have the transmission lines on the border
  

15   lines of their properties?
  

16                 MR. LINDENLAUB:  Yes, sir.
  

17                 MEMBER FANT:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Any other
  

19   questions from members?
  

20                 (No response.)
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, I guess we're
  

22   ready to look at the Certificate.
  

23                 If you could get Chairman's 2 up on the
  

24   screen.  Members, we have Chairman's 1 in front of you.
  

25                 MEMBER FANT:  What number is that?
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  This is Chairman's 1.
  

 2                 MEMBER FANT:  Chairman's 1.  Sorry, I may
  

 3   not have brought that up.
  

 4                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  254 Chairman's 1.
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  Oh, I see it up high, okay,
  

 6   254.  Thank you, sir.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Can you get that to one
  

 8   screen, because I'm not going to be able to read the
  

 9   changes that are happening.
  

10                 MR. ACKEN:  Just show the -- yeah, blow it
  

11   up.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Even a little bigger than
  

13   that would be great for me.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I'm opening what was sent
  

17   by Mr. Acken, and although it says "Chairman's Exhibits 1
  

18   and 2," all I have is a land ownership map.
  

19                 MEMBER FONTES:  Same.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It should be a document
  

21   titled "CEC-254 Chair Exhibit 1."
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Nope.  Unless there's
  

23   another one.  Wait, here's another one.  No, that one is
  

24   also just land ownership, Exhibit 16.
  

25                 MR. ACKEN:  In progress.  That's an
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 1   operator error on my part.  This is what happens when
  

 2   Tod's not available.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Well, I appreciate you
  

 4   stepping up, I really do.
  

 5                 MR. ACKEN:  It's going to make you miss
  

 6   Tod, that's for sure.
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  But you're so cooperative.
  

 8                 MR. ACKEN:  Competent maybe is the
  

 9   challenge.
  

10                 Okay.  Mr. Chairman, Members Fontes and
  

11   Little, I have emailed both Chairman's 1 and 2 to you at
  

12   this time.  Member Fontes's may be --
  

13                 MEMBER FONTES:  Received.
  

14                 MR. ACKEN:  -- a little bit earlier in the
  

15   ether sphere than yours, Member Little.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I live way out in the
  

17   boonies, it takes a while.  However, proceed.  I'm sure
  

18   it's coming.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Members, if you
  

20   can review the Introduction, please.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I move approval of the
  

24   induction -- Introduction, as printed.
  

25                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?  Of
  

 2   course we'll have to fill in the actual vote count
  

 3   afterwards, but beyond that?
  

 4                 All in favor say aye.
  

 5                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 7                 (No response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the
  

 9   Introduction is adopted.
  

10                 Moving on to the Project Description.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

12   approval of the Project Description, as shown on
  

13   Chairman's --
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  1.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  -- 1.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is there a second?
  

17                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?  Member
  

19   Fant?
  

20                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah, just -- thank you -- to
  

21   the applicant, any comments on that section?  I'm not
  

22   asking for any, but does that look fine?
  

23                 MR. ACKEN:  It -- Chairman Stafford, Member
  

24   Fant, it does.  As I understand it, and the Chairman can
  

25   correct me if I'm wrong, he takes the version that we
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 1   file and then shows any redlines to it.  So that redline
  

 2   that's shown in red is in addition to the Project
  

 3   Description as we filed it, and that is consistent with
  

 4   the testimony.  So thank you.
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Acken.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, I like to add what
  

 7   the nonjurisdictional project is, so when I go back and
  

 8   look and see what -- how much energy is supposed to come
  

 9   on the system based on the things that -- the
  

10   jurisdictional projects that we approve, it's easier to
  

11   look at the CEC for all the information as opposed to
  

12   going back and digging through the application.
  

13                 Because I can -- if you go to the
  

14   Commission website, you can open the CEC fairly quickly,
  

15   but the application takes several minutes, depending on
  

16   the size.
  

17                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I'm sure the Commissioners
  

18   appreciate that.
  

19                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

21                 MEMBER LITTLE:  We often put the maximum
  

22   pole height in these descriptions.  Do we want to add
  

23   that?
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That will be covered in
  

25   Condition Number 20.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okey-dokey.  Thank you.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The only -- my other
  

 3   thought was that, and I just didn't add it in here, in
  

 4   the Project Description we have reference to the corridor
  

 5   width and the Exhibit A, the switchyard siting area.  Is
  

 6   there any way -- do you want to put more speci- -- it's
  

 7   on the map and I believe that the -- it says that the new
  

 8   switchyard will occupy about 20 acres, but the switchyard
  

 9   siting area is considerably bigger.  Do we need to
  

10   provide any more specificity on the size of the
  

11   switchyard siting area?
  

12                 MR. ACKEN:  So --
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Acken?
  

14                 MR. ACKEN:  -- I can address that or I can
  

15   address questions to Sohini to address that.  What is
  

16   your preference?
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm just polling the
  

18   members to see if there's interest, because typically I
  

19   think we would say we've got approximately 20 acres in
  

20   size, so that means you're not going to build a 50-acre
  

21   switchyard, but -- and then we have the siting areas on
  

22   the map.  I'm just -- we described the maximum width of
  

23   the corridor, but I'm just saying do we want to have some
  

24   dimensions for that --
  

25                 MR. ACKEN:  Oh, doesn't our map --
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- switchyard siting area.
  

 2                 MR. ACKEN:  I think I understand the
  

 3   question.  And we definitely specify that the switchyard
  

 4   siting area is 230 feet in our application text.  It may
  

 5   be on the map or if it's not on the current map, we can
  

 6   certainly add that to the map or put it here.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's on the map.  I can see
  

 8   it, but I'm just saying, is there --
  

 9                 MR. ACKEN:  No, I mean, as far as the
  

10   acreage.  So we could say "terminates at the approved
  

11   switchyard location," this would be in line 25 of
  

12   Exhibit 1, "referred to as the switchyard siting area (a
  

13   230-acre area)," which is consistent with our testimony
  

14   and the application.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I would like to see that.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  There's a motion to amend
  

17   the Project Description by --
  

18                 MEMBER FANT:  Second.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- Member Little.  Seconded
  

20   by Member Fant.  It should probably say "230-acre area
  

21   shown on Exhibit A."
  

22                 All right.  So to clarify, Member Little,
  

23   your motion to amend the Project Description would be to
  

24   change or to add language on page 2 of Chairman's
  

25   Exhibit 1, line 25, after "switchyard siting area" insert
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 1   "(a 230-acre area shown on Exhibit A)"?
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's correct.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That is a motion that's
  

 4   been seconded.
  

 5                 Further discussion?
  

 6                 (No response.)
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 8                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

10                 (No response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

12   is adopted.
  

13                 Can I get a motion to adopt the Project
  

14   Description, as amended?
  

15                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

18                 (No response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

20                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

22                 (No response.)
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the Project
  

24   Description, as amended, is adopted.
  

25                 On to Conditions.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 2   approval of Condition Number 1.
  

 3                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 5                 (No response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 7                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 9                 (No response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 1
  

11   is adopted.
  

12                 Number 2.
  

13                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

14   Condition 2.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

17                 (No response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

19                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

21                 (No response.)
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 2
  

23   is adopted.
  

24                 Number 3.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move
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 1   Condition 3.
  

 2                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 4                 For some reason the "Case 249" didn't get
  

 5   deleted out.  I've got it at the end of 4, but not the
  

 6   end of 3.  I consider that a --
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Scrivener's error.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- scrivener's error,
  

 9   conforming change, grammatical correction, whatnot, that
  

10   we'll address at the final motion.
  

11                 Condition 3 has been moved and seconded.
  

12   All in favor say aye.
  

13                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

15                 (No response.)
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 3
  

17   is adopted.
  

18                 Number 4.
  

19                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

20   approval of Condition 4, as shown on Chairman's 2.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  1.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  1.  You know, the other --
  

23                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

25                 (No response.)
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 2                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 4                 (No response.)
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 4
  

 6   is adopted.
  

 7                 Number 5.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, for the
  

 9   purposes of discussion, I move Condition 5.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little, further
  

12   discussion?
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Well, I wonder if the
  

14   applicant came up with any language?  I know that they
  

15   had a lot to do during the break.
  

16                 MR. ACKEN:  Member Little -- Member Little,
  

17   we were just chatting.  I think, and I certainly recall
  

18   this from earlier, I think what we would propose is to
  

19   put back in the language, "The applicant shall, to the
  

20   extent feasible, follow AGFD's recommendations applicable
  

21   to the project," because we just don't have them.
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's -- that's exactly
  

23   what I was thinking, something along those lines.  I'm
  

24   also wondering -- I noticed in the application that there
  

25   was a letter from the State Land Department that listed
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 1   various things that you guys have to abide by to use
  

 2   their land.  Do we need that in there also?  I will let
  

 3   the lawyers decide about that.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think -- we don't have
  

 5   that, but I'm thinking we don't need that because it's
  

 6   going to be included in the terms of the lease or the
  

 7   right-of-way easement that they get for the switchyard or
  

 8   transmission line.  I guess it will be a lease for the
  

 9   switchyard and then it will be a right-of-way easement
  

10   for the transmission line.  I'm seeing nods from the
  

11   applicant.  So those terms will be -- will have extensive
  

12   terms about how they'll have to do cultural resources
  

13   surveys and avoid wildlife and mitigate damage to
  

14   habitats and all that sort of thing, and then they'll
  

15   have extensive requirements about to remediate and
  

16   restore the land at the expiration of the lease.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  We've got an awful
  

18   lot of "to the extents" in there, "to the extent
  

19   feasible" and "to the extent applicable."  That's a lot
  

20   of weasel words.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Would you, looking at the
  

24   commentary that's been made on Condition 5, be willing to
  

25   suggest how we would address the line 17 that's been
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 1   lined out, reads, "The applicant shall," and so on?  What
  

 2   would be appropriate in this case?  Would you offer
  

 3   something?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think that they're
  

 5   suggesting to put that back in and take out the --
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  A letter dated from, et
  

 7   cetera?
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right, because there's no
  

 9   letter dated in this record.  It will just be the
  

10   recommendations I believe that the Game and Fish will
  

11   make to the State Land Department.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  So that it might read, "The
  

13   applicant shall follow the AGFD recommendations, as
  

14   feasible"?
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I think what the language
  

16   they have put in there that I'm seeing on the screen is
  

17   acceptable to me.  So can I make a motion that says that
  

18   we shall -- and I don't have the other copy of this, so I
  

19   don't know whether we're still talking about line 17; is
  

20   that the correct line?
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, so --
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  So my motion says we
  

23   shall add following the words, "AGFD's recommendations,"
  

24   insert the words "that are applicable to the project."
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Actually, wait, let's start
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 1   over, because they've already started to change
  

 2   Chairman's 2 on the screen.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Oh, okay.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then I think, wait,
  

 5   before we do that, I think Ms. Hyre had a -- you were
  

 6   going to say something about the Land Department and the
  

 7   Game and Fish?
  

 8                 MS. HYRE:  That's correct.  I was going to
  

 9   confirm than we would adhere to any of the stipulations
  

10   that come about from the Arizona Land Department
  

11   regarding their consultation with Arizona Game and Fish
  

12   and those stipulations that would be included in our
  

13   grant.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

15                 Okay.  So let me try to make your motion
  

16   for you, Member Little --
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- because it's going to be
  

19   to Chairman's 1.  So the way I'm looking at it would be
  

20   on Chairman's 1, page 4, line 17, after "wildlife," you
  

21   would insert the sentence, "The applicant shall, to the
  

22   extent feasible, follow AGFD's recommendations that are
  

23   applicable to the project."  And then --
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  That's it.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And that would be it.  The
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 1   rest of the paragraph would remain intact.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That is absolutely correct.
  

 3   That's my motion.  I would also like to add the word
  

 4   "also" between applicant and commits in the following
  

 5   sentence.  There.  That's my motion.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That is Member Little's
  

 7   motion.  Is there a second?
  

 8                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yes, second.
  

 9                 MEMBER FONTES:  Second.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We have an abundance of
  

12   seconds.
  

13                 Further discussion?
  

14                 (No response.)
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

16                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

18                 (No response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

20   carries.
  

21                 Can I get a motion to adopt Condition 5, as
  

22   amended.
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So moved.
  

24                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
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 1                 (No response.)
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 3                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 5                 (No response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 5,
  

 7   as amended, is adopted.
  

 8                 Number 6.
  

 9                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

10   Condition 6.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

13                 (No response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

15                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

17                 (No response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 6
  

19   is adopted.
  

20                 Number 7.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

22   approval of Condition 7, as shown in Chairman's 1.
  

23                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Where
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 1   did I have it here?  Sorry.  I pass.  I'll have to find
  

 2   my --
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  I have a
  

 4   question for Mr. Acken, the applicant.  SHPO is going to
  

 5   require Class III cultural inventory for all
  

 6   right-of-ways on State Trust Land.  There is a small
  

 7   portion of private land that the transmission line will
  

 8   cross.  This condition would require the applicant to
  

 9   also do a Class III cultural resources survey for the
  

10   final right-of-way on that private land.
  

11                 Is that -- is that your understanding as
  

12   well?
  

13                 MR. ACKEN:  It is.  This is the standard
  

14   condition from SHPO that's -- that all applicants have, I
  

15   think, accepted since March.  We had that separate
  

16   meeting in April where I expressed some concern with it,
  

17   but this applicant has agreed to comply with conducting a
  

18   Class III on private lands as well.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That small little slice as
  

20   it is.
  

21                 MR. ACKEN:  You know, going back to, just
  

22   for the record, my concern was when you have private
  

23   landowners who didn't want that done, but --
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That's why we had the
  

25   language in consultation -- in cooperation with the
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 1   landowner.  I think -- so far I think they've been
  

 2   cooperating, so it hasn't been -- and who is the
  

 3   landowner, remind me, of that small slice of private
  

 4   land?
  

 5                 MR. ACKEN:  Let me ask a question or you
  

 6   can confirm.
  

 7       Q.   I believe that there are perhaps two landowners
  

 8   for the right-of-way, and that's what I want you to speak
  

 9   to specifically, the right-of-way for the gen-tie,
  

10   Sohini?
  

11       A.   (MS. HATHIRAMANI) Thank you, Chairman.
  

12            So that small slice is landowner Julian Sanchez.
  

13   We --
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I didn't catch that, it's
  

15   under what?
  

16                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  Julian Sanchez.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

18                 MS. HATHIRAMANI:  And then at the start of
  

19   the right-of-way where the gen-tie starts, that's also
  

20   private land where our solar project begins -- at the --
  

21   where it meets our solar project, and that's Locomotive
  

22   Farms.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And you anticipate
  

24   they'll -- they're not going to fight you on having a
  

25   Class III cultural resource survey for the right-of-way
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 1   project for the transmission line, correct?
  

 2                 MS. HYRE:  That's correct.  We don't
  

 3   anticipate any issues.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Excellent.
  

 5                 All right.  Condition 7 has been moved and
  

 6   seconded.
  

 7                 Further discussion?
  

 8                 (No response.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

10                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

12                 (No response.)
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 7
  

14   is adopted.
  

15                 Number 8.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

17   approval of condition 8, as shown in Chairman's 1.
  

18                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

20                 (No response.)
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

22                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

24                 (No response.)
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 8
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 1   is adopted.
  

 2                 Number 9.
  

 3                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 4   Condition 9.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 7                 (No response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 9                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

11                 (No response.)
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 9
  

13   is adopted.
  

14                 Number 10.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

16   approval of Condition 10, as shown in Chairman's 1.
  

17                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

19                 (No response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

21                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

23                 (No response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 10
  

25   is adopted.
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 1                 Number 11.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 3   approval of Condition 11, as shown in Chairman's 1.
  

 4                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 6                 (No response.)
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 8                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

10                 (No response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 11
  

12   is adopted.
  

13                 Number 12.
  

14                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

15   Condition 12.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

18                 (No response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

20                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

22                 (No response.)
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 12
  

24   is adopted.
  

25                 Number 13.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 2   Condition 13.
  

 3                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 5                 (No response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 7                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 9                 (No response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 13
  

11   is adopted.
  

12                 Number 14.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

14   approval of Condition 14, as shown in Chairman's 1.
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

17                 (No response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

19                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

21                 (No response.)
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 14
  

23   is adopted.
  

24                 Number 15.
  

25                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
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 1   Condition 15.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 4                 (No response.)
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 6                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 8                 (No response.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 15
  

10   is adopted.
  

11                 Number 16.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

13   approval of Condition 17.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  16.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  16.  Got it, sorry, as
  

16   shown in Chairman's 1.
  

17                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

19                 (No response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

21                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

23                 (No response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 16
  

25   is adopted.
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 1                 Number 17.  This one I added because I
  

 2   recall from the Staff letter they had talked about
  

 3   thermal overloads or something or short circuit or
  

 4   something about concerns with this.  The mitigation
  

 5   measures were done, and I think they had mentioned
  

 6   additional potential system impact studies and restudies.
  

 7   In the prior one we just had them give Staff the
  

 8   interconnection agreement that would show all the
  

 9   upgrades, system upgrades that would be required of the
  

10   applicant, and that way they would see what was what and
  

11   should assure them that the addition of the project would
  

12   not have a negative impact on the system.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman -- oh, I'm
  

14   sorry.  Mr. Chairman, I move approval of Condition 17, as
  

15   shown in Chairman's 1.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Second.
  

17                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder, further
  

19   discussion?
  

20                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yes, sir.
  

21                 This says that they shall supply notice,
  

22   but it doesn't require them to actually get the
  

23   agreement, does it?
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, they can't connect
  

25   without the agreement.  It's not going to -- it's a
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 1   foregone conclusion that the agreement -- the
  

 2   interconnection agreement has to be executed by both the
  

 3   applicant and APS or they will not be allowed to be
  

 4   interconnected into APS's transmission line.
  

 5                 Is that an accurate statement?  Can the
  

 6   applicant confirm that?
  

 7                 MR. ACKEN:  Confirmed.  This -- this
  

 8   condition is consistent with the testimony, consistent
  

 9   with what has been done, to my knowledge, in some prior
  

10   cases.  And this applicant is comfortable with it.  It is
  

11   consistent with what will occur.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Because you did
  

13   submit the prior system -- with the cluster Phase 1 and 2
  

14   studies to Staff under seal already, so there's an
  

15   existing agreement?
  

16                 MR. ACKEN:  That's correct.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

19   Thank you, Mr. Acken.  I was merely wanting to confirm on
  

20   the record that we didn't need to put language in there,
  

21   to the extent "must obtain," or something like this.  So
  

22   would you state for me for the record again the assurance
  

23   that this will all have to take place before construction
  

24   can proceed?
  

25                 MR. ACKEN:  Mr. Chairman, Member Kryder, I
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 1   can confirm that this project will not interconnect to
  

 2   the regional grid without a Large Generator
  

 3   Interconnection Agreement executed between the applicant
  

 4   and the interconnecting utility, APS, pursuant to federal
  

 5   law.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you very much.  Much
  

 7   appreciated.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And this condition also
  

 9   includes Chairman -- or Member Little's important phrase
  

10   and it's "The applicants shall comply with all the
  

11   requirements contained in the interconnection agreement."
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Condition 17
  

14   has been moved and seconded.
  

15                 Further discussion?
  

16                 (No response.)
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

18                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

20                 (No response.)
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 17
  

22   is adopted.
  

23                 Number 18.
  

24                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

25   Condition 18.  And as an aside really stress that this is
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 1   very important to regional and area-wide planning, system
  

 2   planning for the state.
  

 3                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  And now you can say the
  

 5   your comment properly.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  What I said.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Cut and paste.
  

 9                 Condition 18 has been moved and seconded.
  

10                 Further discussion?
  

11                 (No response.)
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

13                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

15                 (No response.)
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 18
  

17   is adopted.
  

18                 Number 19.
  

19                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman, move to
  

20   discuss.
  

21                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion, Member
  

23   Comstock?
  

24                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.
  

25                 In A and B, the applicant is required to
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 1   provide reports or studies back to docket in the Staff of
  

 2   the Commission.  I have a couple of questions,
  

 3   when -- when will the applicant's clock start ticking to
  

 4   produce those studies, on what date?  Is it 10 days after
  

 5   the approval of this?  Five days after the approval?  How
  

 6   does that work?  It says they have a year to be able
  

 7   to -- the applicant has a year to provide the reports
  

 8   back.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think that it would
  

10   be -- they would have to be completed at some point prior
  

11   to construction.
  

12                 I'm looking to Mr. Acken and the applicant.
  

13   How does -- how do they typically comply with this
  

14   condition?
  

15                 MR. ACKEN:  Mr. Chairman, Member Comstock,
  

16   Mr. Chairman's understanding is consistent with mine,
  

17   that these studies are done in the normal course of
  

18   preconstruction activities, and it is a prerequisite to
  

19   the commencement of construction.  Construction, you
  

20   know, has a 10-year time frame.  So so long as those
  

21   studies are done within that time frame and before
  

22   construction, it's -- it would be authorized under this
  

23   condition.  But that's typically the timing that it's
  

24   done.
  

25                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman, if I may,
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 1   so what is the requirement of an annual compliance
  

 2   certification letter?  And how does that interact with
  

 3   the required studies?
  

 4                 MR. ACKEN:  Oh, understood the question.
  

 5   Thank you, Member Comstock.
  

 6                 THE REPORTER:  Microphone.
  

 7                 MR. ACKEN:  You would think I'd have it
  

 8   figured out by now.
  

 9                 Chairman Stafford, Member Comstock, I
  

10   understand your question now.  The annual compliance
  

11   certification applies to every single condition in the
  

12   CEC.  So on an annual basis, this applicant who, to the
  

13   extent he receives a CEC, and every other CEC holder must
  

14   provide, on an annual basis by the date set for its
  

15   compliance certification, must submit that to the docket
  

16   for the project.
  

17                 And so that compliance certification will
  

18   list every condition and discuss what has been done to
  

19   comply with that condition.  To the extent that there's
  

20   been noncompliance, that should be highlighted as well.
  

21   But it will list for each condition, such as this, the
  

22   next compliance certification may say it hasn't been done
  

23   because we're still in the design and development stage.
  

24   But at some point prior to construction, there will be a
  

25   study done and I believe, if I -- I don't want to -- yes,
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 1   that that compliance certification will confirm that the
  

 2   studies have been performed.
  

 3                 So that's -- Commission Staff receives
  

 4   those and reviews those.  Speaking from personal
  

 5   experience, Commission Staff does review, they send out
  

 6   notices about 45 days prior to the compliance
  

 7   certification deadline, giving me a reminder that says
  

 8   your client has an upcoming certification due.  We submit
  

 9   that certification on the date that it is due and if the
  

10   Commission Staff has any questions, we address it in
  

11   follow-up.
  

12                 But that's the verification of you say
  

13   you're going to do all of these things, applicant, but
  

14   where's the verification?  It's in that annual compliance
  

15   certification.
  

16                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  So, Mr. Chairman, here --
  

17   I mean, I'm going to try to speak in plain language here.
  

18   Here's my problem with this.  The gas line doesn't move.
  

19   And there's already a WAPA site that is built and
  

20   mitigating AC current from their lines.  And the
  

21   applicant will be 100 feet away, maybe -- maybe a little
  

22   more.  And have to provide that same type of process or
  

23   mitigation on the same portion of the pipeline that will
  

24   be crossed not now by one, but by two power lines.
  

25                 So I am encouraging the applicant to make
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 1   early contact with El Paso.  I think this is not a normal
  

 2   piece of operation on a natural gas pipeline with two
  

 3   major transmission lines crossing it.  And I'd like
  

 4   to -- and I don't have the language in front of me.  I've
  

 5   been thinking about it, to see if we can't expedite their
  

 6   work in this area to make sure that, prior to
  

 7   construction, there's not going to be any major problems
  

 8   with El Paso Natural Gas and their construction process.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  What -- I guess I have a
  

10   question for the applicant and maybe you too, Member
  

11   Comstock, is what is the marginal effect on the gas
  

12   pipeline of the one -- this additional 230-kV line?  It's
  

13   already -- that's been called a number of things that
  

14   the -- it's a picture and an exhibit, is it --
  

15                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  There's already a
  

16   mitigation --
  

17                 THE REPORTER:  Hold on.
  

18                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Sorry, ma'am.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, it's Exhibit, I think
  

20   it's CC-15, is that the gas line crossing?  Let's see,
  

21   the picture that we were talking about before.
  

22                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Right.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I believe that would be 14.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, 15.  It's 15, the gas
  

25   line crossing that -- what is that facility called,
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 1   Member Comstock?
  

 2                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Well, it's there for
  

 3   several reasons, one is to mark the pipeline; two, to
  

 4   mitigate AC current from the WAPA line; three, to provide
  

 5   perhaps a purge point for the pipeline and so on.  So I
  

 6   would anticipate that on the south side of the road there
  

 7   would be something similar to offset what's happening
  

 8   with the new construct.
  

 9                 And I -- because it's in such a tight
  

10   proximity to each other, I think there's more engineering
  

11   process that's going to have to go into this than what
  

12   meets the eye.  And that's why I'm encouraging to look at
  

13   adding language that increases or adds to the
  

14   requirements of the applicant to start this process
  

15   earlier than two or three years before we construct.  I
  

16   mean, that's how far it could go, I think.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Because this
  

18   project will cross the pipeline no greater than a
  

19   thousand feet away from where the WAPA line crosses the
  

20   pipeline.
  

21                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Yeah, and I would say
  

22   it's probably within -- unless they move to the complete
  

23   outside of the thousand-foot easement into the farm
  

24   fields --
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That's what I'm --
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 1                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  -- I guess they could do
  

 2   that.  But that's another additional cost that I don't
  

 3   think they thought of.  I'm just saying that I don't
  

 4   think that it's relevant -- or I think it's important, I
  

 5   shouldn't say it's not relevant -- it's important that
  

 6   this study in this particular case because of the
  

 7   proximity of the two transmission lines that this piece
  

 8   be started earlier than later.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  And I guess -- and
  

10   my question to the applicant, then, is what are the
  

11   chances that the -- this WAPA site is going to provide
  

12   enough mitigation for this project as well, or is it
  

13   going to have to be added onto?  What's the marginal
  

14   impact to the -- of this transmission line on the gas
  

15   pipeline, I guess is my question?
  

16                 MR. ACKEN:  Chairman Stafford, Member
  

17   Comstock, I don't think we can know that, you know.  I
  

18   understand Member Comstock's question and I would
  

19   suggest, you know, if the goal is to make sure people are
  

20   talking early, if that's the goal, and I know it's not
  

21   the complete goal, but if that's part of the goal, you
  

22   know, we could address that by adding El Paso Natural Gas
  

23   as a recipient of the CEC.
  

24                 And to receive notice of compliance
  

25   certifications.  That way, you know, they're involved,
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 1   they know what's going on.  We're going to start -- and
  

 2   then you can take comfort that there's a dialogue.  And,
  

 3   you know, I know it's not -- it doesn't mean that the
  

 4   studies have been done, but if they're talking, well,
  

 5   studies will get done.
  

 6                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Comstock.
  

 8                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Because of my past
  

 9   experience and former life, when we had crossings similar
  

10   to this, we had large grids that were built underneath
  

11   the pipeline to mitigate AC.  So from the earlier part of
  

12   the testimony by the applicant, I didn't get a warm,
  

13   fuzzy feeling that you had a robust process in regards to
  

14   this.  So if there's something in your company that -- in
  

15   the applicant's company that I missed, that there is an
  

16   operational group that has a lot of experience in this, I
  

17   didn't hear that.
  

18                 And El Paso will be very adamant about
  

19   making sure their pipeline is protected.  So I -- if I
  

20   may, Mr. Acken, I think your suggestion is correct, that
  

21   forcing dialogue or requiring dialogue early in this is
  

22   important.  And if that can be amended to require that
  

23   here, I would find that at least moderately acceptable to
  

24   make sure that we get the dialogue moving.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think Mr. Acken was
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 1   suggesting we add it to Condition 22 that the applicant
  

 2   will provide a copy to Pinal County, ASLD, and El Paso
  

 3   Natural Gas Company.
  

 4                 MEMBER FANT:  To the local office of.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that what your
  

 6   suggestion was, Mr. Acken?
  

 7                 MR. ACKEN:  That was the proposal.  That
  

 8   was the proposal.  What is 22 in Chairman's Exhibit 1 is
  

 9   the standard condition to provide notice to affected
  

10   jurisdictions.  El Paso Natural Gas isn't an affected
  

11   jurisdiction, but that notice doesn't have to be limited
  

12   to affected jurisdictions.  Why do we notify affected
  

13   jurisdictions?  So they can take it into consideration as
  

14   part of their planning and development.
  

15                 El Paso Natural Gas, from what I'm hearing,
  

16   has similar interests and reason to be notified.  And so
  

17   that's -- that seems to me to be an elegant way to make
  

18   sure that these parties are starting that dialogue early.
  

19                 To Member Comstock's question about the
  

20   applicant's expertise, you're right, we didn't provide
  

21   specific testimony on crossing gas pipelines, but the
  

22   testimony was that this applicant operates 2 gigawatts of
  

23   energy projects across the country for itself, another
  

24   2 1/2 gigawatts for others, and so with a robust
  

25   transmission system.  So it's not their first rodeo.  So
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 1   I'm sure they have the expertise to manage that.  And, to
  

 2   your point, by having that dialogue we make sure that the
  

 3   right groups are talking right away.
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Following that up,
  

 7   Mr. Acken, or someone there on the team, the fact that
  

 8   this has been kind of slow in taking place, I think is
  

 9   what we're trying to address here and making sure that
  

10   somebody gets it very high on their to-do list.
  

11                 So I'm going to ask a pointed question that
  

12   implies a bunch of stuff, and I don't mean it to be
  

13   hurtful.  And, that is, within the applicant's sphere of
  

14   influence, is there opposition within the applicant of
  

15   doing this?
  

16                 MS. HYRE:  I can tell you that no, there's
  

17   no opposition within our organization for us to be
  

18   coordinating as a team and to be advancing this
  

19   conversation.
  

20                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Wonderful.  Thank you for
  

21   speaking that on record, Ms. Hyre.
  

22                 MS. HYRE:  You're welcome.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I guess I've got kind of a
  

24   general question, curiosity about how this works.
  

25   The Arizona -- Arizona transmission lines get built
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 1   across gas lines all the time.  There's got to be some
  

 2   kind of standard way to approach that to make sure that
  

 3   they don't cause problems.
  

 4                 Is that something that was addressed by
  

 5   your engineering procurement and design contractor -- no,
  

 6   construction -- engineering procurement and
  

 7   construction -- are these the kind of issues that those
  

 8   contractors would address, oh, like we need to -- when
  

 9   we're just getting the -- the finer engineering detailed
  

10   points out, oh, is that -- is that when they address what
  

11   they had to do for cathodic protection for crossing gas
  

12   lines, or is it someplace else in the process that it
  

13   usually gets addressed?
  

14                 MR. ACKEN:  I'll speak -- I'll speak to it
  

15   from the development standpoint, which I'm familiar with.
  

16   And I'll ask Jennifer and Sohini to confirm.  It's
  

17   important to where we are in this process.  We are in the
  

18   development time frame.  And part of the development time
  

19   frame means you aren't going to be at 90 percent design,
  

20   because if I bring a project to 90 percent design and
  

21   this committee or the County says, you know what, we want
  

22   something different, guess what, we have to unwind
  

23   everything.
  

24                 So that's the reality of the development
  

25   and permitting process is we come to you with 10 percent
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 1   design.  We come to you with a route.  Those routes cross
  

 2   transmission lines, other transmission -- electric
  

 3   transmission lines, they cross gas pipelines, they cross
  

 4   interstate highways.  And so all of those specific
  

 5   crossings and analyses that need to be done, in my
  

 6   experience, are not done at this stage of the process.
  

 7                 But it is -- absolutely has to be done in
  

 8   the engineering step of the process, which comes later.
  

 9   It doesn't come now.  It comes in due course in the
  

10   process.  If this committee wants comfort that that's
  

11   going to happen, I think Ms. Hyre has given it and can
  

12   confirm it.  But it isn't done today.
  

13                 I do think Member Comstock's point is well
  

14   taken, though, which is let's just make sure that the
  

15   right people are talking.  And if this committee wants
  

16   that comfort, we're happy to give it to them.  I think we
  

17   have and we're willing to put it in writing that we'll do
  

18   that, to make sure that those conversations do take place
  

19   in due course.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant?
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  Oh, I was looking at changes.
  

22   If I were going to make a comment, I would say if your
  

23   transmission line crosses the El Paso Natural Gas
  

24   pipeline, you contact them and they send you a nice
  

25   24-page agreement and say here, read this.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Or don't read it, just sign
  

 2   it.
  

 3                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Condition 19
  

 5   has been moved and seconded.
  

 6                 Further discussion?
  

 7                 (No response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 9                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

11                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  No.
  

12                 THE REPORTER:  Wait, who said that?
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Comstock.
  

14                 One -- eight ayes and one no.  Condition 19
  

15   is adopted.
  

16                 Number 20.
  

17                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

18   approval of Condition 20, as shown in Chairman's 1.
  

19                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?  Member
  

21   Fant?
  

22                 MEMBER FANT:  To the applicant, is a
  

23   hundred -- I assume 199 feet of structure is sufficient?
  

24                 MR. ACKEN:  Yeah, I think that's --
  

25                 MEMBER FANT:  Because you have a crossing
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 1   structure somewhere, right?
  

 2                 MR. ACKEN:  That's correct, as we talked,
  

 3   there's going to be a crossing of the double-circuit WAPA
  

 4   line.  199 feet is the height that's set forth in the
  

 5   application.  And as many members of this committee know,
  

 6   that's -- that keeps us under FAA requirements.
  

 7                 MEMBER FANT:  FAA requirements?
  

 8                 MR. ACKEN:  Yeah.
  

 9                 MEMBER FANT:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.
  

11                 Condition 20 has been moved and seconded.
  

12                 Further discussion?
  

13                 (No response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

15                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

17                 (No response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 20
  

19   is adopted.
  

20                 Number 21.
  

21                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

22   Condition 21.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

25                 (No response.)
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 2                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 4                 (No response.)
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 21
  

 6   adopted.
  

 7                 Number 22.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 9   Condition 22.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?  Member
  

12   Fant?
  

13                 MEMBER FANT:  Just to go back to
  

14   Mr Comstock's point, maybe we should put here -- amend
  

15   this to read, "The applicant shall provide a copy of the
  

16   Certificate to Pinal County, ASLD, and EPNG."
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  We should spell out
  

18   El Paso Natural Gas Company.
  

19                 MEMBER FANT:  Oh, spell it out, that's
  

20   fine.  I move that we amend Condition Number 22 to
  

21   include "El Paso Natural Gas Company."
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

24                 Is that the correct name of the company?
  

25                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman, I never
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 1   heard "company" at the end of El Paso Natural Gas, so I
  

 2   don't know if that's the correct name for it or not.  But
  

 3   I've always referred to it as El Paso Natural Gas.
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And that's -- one second --
  

 6   that's how we -- we call it El Paso Natural Gas line on
  

 7   the map.  So I guess the applicant can look into that.
  

 8                 Member Kryder?
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Put it in with or without
  

10   company and take care of it as a scrivener error.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  I'd like to know
  

12   what the right answer is before we do it.
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chair.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member DiCiccio?  One
  

15   second, Member Little.
  

16                 Please get to a microphone.
  

17                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Yes.  According to AI,
  

18   it's El Paso -- oh, shoot, they want me to do
  

19   something -- okay, El Paso Natural Gas Company, LLC.
  

20   EPNG.
  

21                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  However, Mr. Chairman, if
  

22   I may, it says "now a Kinder Morgan Company," so I
  

23   believe that Kinder Morgan actually purchased El Paso
  

24   Natural Gas a while back and it may be Kinder Morgan that
  

25   you're dealing with, not El Paso Natural Gas.  It still
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 1   may be -- the line still may be named El Paso Natural
  

 2   Gas, but I think Kinder Morgan is the owner of the
  

 3   company.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little had something
  

 5   and then back to you, Member DiCiccio.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I was just going to say I
  

 7   looked at -- when I Googled El Paso Natural Gas, I got
  

 8   Kinder Morgan and they actually stated that they had just
  

 9   purchased -- "Kinder Morgan, Inc. completes acquisition
  

10   of El Paso Corporation."  El Paso -- it's listed on the
  

11   New York Stock Exchange as EP, if that matters.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  As what?
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  EP.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member DiCiccio?
  

15                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  I was going to say the
  

16   same thing, my understanding is that Kinder Morgan does
  

17   own El Paso Natural Gas Company, LLC.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, I guess
  

19   they both need to be informed, wouldn't they, El Paso and
  

20   Kinder Morgan?
  

21                 MEMBER MERCER:  This happened in 2012.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But are they still just
  

23   El Paso still exists it's just owned by Kinder Morgan or
  

24   was it consumed by like Invasion of the Body Snatchers,
  

25   where it doesn't exist anymore, it's part of the new --
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 1   new thing.
  

 2                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  I think it's a subsidiary
  

 3   of Kinder Morgan.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Then I guess the El Paso
  

 5   Natural Gas Company, LLC, would be -- that's the actual
  

 6   operator of the pipeline that's going to be dealing with
  

 7   the crossing itself.  Looks like Ms. Hyre has something
  

 8   to say.
  

 9                 MS. HYRE:  I had a suggestion for the
  

10   members to consider.  What about using the terminology
  

11   "El Paso Natural Gas pipeline asset owner"?
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It was your motion, Member
  

13   Fant.
  

14                 MEMBER FANT:  I concur.  I'm fine with that
  

15   change.
  

16                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Mr. Chair?
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member DiCiccio.
  

18                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  So I'm not understand --
  

19   I mean, that just sounds like it makes it more confusing,
  

20   I don't know, from my end.  I think you just put the
  

21   company in there.  But if people want to do that, I'm
  

22   good with it, but that just makes it --
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Or we could -- I have yet
  

24   another suggestion.  We could say they're going to notify
  

25   Pinal County, ASLD, and El Paso Natural Gas Company, LLC,
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 1   whatever their name is, and/or the operator of the El
  

 2   Paso Natural Gas line depicted in Exhibit A.  That way we
  

 3   cover all our bases, I think.
  

 4                 Is that clear enough, Member DiCiccio?
  

 5                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  It is, but again, I think
  

 6   simplicity works in these situations.  I think people are
  

 7   going to understand what it is, and companies get sold
  

 8   all the time and how they are in documents today are not
  

 9   going to be how they're going to be 10 years from now.  I
  

10   think we just stay with El Paso Natural Gas Company, or
  

11   even El Paso Natural Gas, EPNG, I think that all works.
  

12   I just think simplicity works sometimes, Mr. Chair.  But
  

13   I'm good with anything.  I don't want to get into a
  

14   debate over words.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, Member
  

16   Fant, it was your motion, what do you --
  

17                 MEMBER FANT:  I think we stick with what we
  

18   discussed here, "the assets," is fine, because those are
  

19   always going to be there.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And you would say and the
  

21   owner/operator of the --
  

22                 MEMBER FANT:  El Paso Natural Gas pipeline.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, instead of having it
  

24   at the end, it seems a little --
  

25                 MEMBER FANT:  The owner of the El Paso
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 1   Natural Gas pipeline.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  You want to reference "as
  

 3   shown in Exhibit A."
  

 4                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah, "as shown in Exhibit
  

 5   A," well, that's a good point.  They could build a second
  

 6   line, so --
  

 7                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Comstock.
  

 9                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  I'm going to keep
  

10   whipping this horse until it falls down.
  

11                 Who at the applicant's company is going to
  

12   be responsible for this piece of notification?  Who
  

13   gets the -- who gets the letter?  And who is going to
  

14   write the letter of compliance and where we're at on
  

15   discussions with this?
  

16                 And the reason I'm doing this is because
  

17   that pipeline serves the Phoenix metropolitan area.
  

18   There can't be any problems on that pipeline.  So who in
  

19   the company gets this?
  

20                 MR. ACKEN:  So let me ask a couple
  

21   questions of Ms. Hyre.
  

22       Q.   In your role, are you responsible for
  

23   compliance?
  

24       A.   (MS. HYRE) Yes.  I'm responsible for compliance
  

25   at Cypress.
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 1       Q.   And as part of that role, you'll be likely
  

 2   responsible or you expect to be responsible for the
  

 3   annual compliance certifications to be conducted in this
  

 4   matter?
  

 5       A.   (MS. HYRE) Yes, that's correct.
  

 6       Q.   And should the committee adopt this condition,
  

 7   you will ensure that someone with lawful authority on
  

 8   behalf of the company signs the notice to El Paso Natural
  

 9   Gas pipeline owner/operator; is that correct?
  

10       A.   (MS. HYRE) Yes, that is correct.
  

11                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So we have --
  

13   Member Fant has made a motion to amend Condition 22 to
  

14   say, "The applicant shall provide a copy of this
  

15   certificate to Pinal County, ASLD, and the owner/operator
  

16   of the El Paso Natural Gas pipeline, as shown in Exhibit
  

17   A."
  

18                 That is your motion, Member Fant?
  

19                 MEMBER FANT:  Yes.
  

20                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

22                 (No response.)
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

24                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
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 1                 (No response.)
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

 3   is adopted.  Can I get a motion to adopt Condition 22, as
  

 4   amended?
  

 5                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 8                 (No response.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

10                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

12                 (No response.)
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 22,
  

14   as adopted -- as amended is adopted.
  

15                 Number 23.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

17   approval of Condition 23, as shown in Chairman's 1.
  

18                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

20                 (No response.)
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

22                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

24                 (No response.)
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 23
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 1   is adopted.
  

 2                 Number 24.
  

 3                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 4   Condition 24.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 7                 (No response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 9                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

11                 (No response.)
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 24
  

13   is adopted.
  

14                 Number 25.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

16   Condition 25.
  

17                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

19                 (No response.)
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

21                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

23                 (No response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Condition 25
  

25   is adopted.
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 1                 On to Findings of Fact and Conclusions of
  

 2   Law.  Number 1.
  

 3                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. -- yes, go ahead.
  

 4                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

 5   Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 1.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?  Member
  

 8   Fant?
  

 9                 MEMBER FANT:  Just a quick question,
  

10   Mr. Chair, the word "renewable" in number 1, should that
  

11   be there because it aids in the development of an
  

12   adequate, economic, and reliable supply of electric
  

13   power.  I'm not strong on it, I'm just asking is that
  

14   what we put in for solar facilities?  I'm asking as a
  

15   rookie.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I guess it depends on who
  

17   the applicant is.  Sometimes they include it, sometimes
  

18   they don't.  In this case -- this is -- that's the
  

19   language that the applicant --
  

20                 MEMBER FANT:  Applicant --
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- puts in its draft CEC.
  

22                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, sir, Mr. Chair.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Acken, do you care to
  

24   comment at all?
  

25                 MR. ACKEN:  Chairman Stafford, Member Fant,
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 1   Chairman Stafford's correct.  It's language that I carry
  

 2   forward and on most of my projects that have -- or all my
  

 3   projects that have a renewable connection.  Member Fant
  

 4   raises an interesting point with respect to the battery
  

 5   storage, that helps regardless of whether it's renewable
  

 6   or not.  So it's probably more accurate and precise to
  

 7   strike "renewable."  It's one that I, quite honestly,
  

 8   hadn't thought of.
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  On the other hand,
  

12   batteries, by their very nature are renewable.  When they
  

13   get low, you renew them by refilling them.
  

14                 MR. ACKEN:  Fair point.  A different
  

15   interp- -- definition of renewable.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Exactly.  Therefore,
  

17   Mr. Chairman, I would suggest we consider just leaving it
  

18   if Member Fant would be in approval of that.
  

19                 MEMBER FANT:  That's fine.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant?
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  I just wanted to point out
  

22   that I'm shocked that this project will have 98 percent
  

23   reliability, that just shows how far solar facilities
  

24   have come with BESS, combined with BESS.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Finding of Fact
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 1   and Conclusion of Law Number 1 has been moved and
  

 2   seconded.
  

 3                 Further discussion?
  

 4                 (No response.)
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 6                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 8                 (No response.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

10   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 1 is adopted.
  

11                 Number 2.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

13   approval of Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law Number
  

14   2, as shown in Chairman's 1, be approved.
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

17                 (No response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

19                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

21                 (No response.)
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

23   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 2 is adopted.
  

24                 Number 3.
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
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 1   approval of Finding of Facts and Conclusion of Law Number
  

 2   3 be approved, as shown in Chairman's 1.
  

 3                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 5                 (No response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 7                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 9                 (No response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

11   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 3 is adopted.
  

12                 Number 4.
  

13                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

14   Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 4.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

17                 (No response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

19                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

21                 (No response.)
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

23   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 4 is adopted.
  

24                 Number 5.
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
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 1   approval of Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law Number
  

 2   5, as shown in Chairman's 1 be approved.
  

 3                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 5                 (No response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 7                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 9                 (No response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

11   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 5 is adopted number.
  

12                 Number 6.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman, I move
  

14   approval of Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law Number
  

15   6, as shown in Chairman's 1, be approved.
  

16                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

18                 (No response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

20                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

22                 (No response.)
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Finding of
  

24   Fact and Conclusion of Law Number 6 is adopted.
  

25                 Exhibit A.  I guess we -- let's ask that
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 1   Hearing Exhibit CC-16 be adopted as Exhibit A.  I'm
  

 2   assuming that would be -- that was the intent of it,
  

 3   Mr. Acken?
  

 4                 MR. ACKEN:  That's correct, Mr. Chairman.
  

 5   Subject to any modifications, scrivener's provisions that
  

 6   we need to make, as directed by you and the committee.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Members, I'm
  

 8   looking at the Hearing Exhibit 16, it seems to have added
  

 9   all the information that we have requested.
  

10                 MEMBER FANT:  I move to adopt Commission's
  

11   Exhibit Number 16 as Exhibit A to be attached to the
  

12   Certificate of Environmental Compatibility.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  With the -- further
  

15   discussion -- with the caveat that the version you
  

16   provide to me to file with the Certificate is a better
  

17   quality color copy than the one you provided as the
  

18   hearing exhibit for this room.
  

19                 MR. ACKEN:  Mr. Chairman, you know, I don't
  

20   want to throw the printer under the bus, but yes, we will
  

21   have a better copy for you.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman?
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  It would not be a better
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 1   copy, it would be a more clear copy.  Thank you.
  

 2                 MR. ACKEN:  Understood.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think that would make it
  

 4   objectively better.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  It may be a moral issue.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  The motion is
  

 7   to adopt Hearing Exhibit CC-16 as the Exhibit A for the
  

 8   Certificate.  It has been moved by Member Fant, seconded
  

 9   by --
  

10                 MEMBER MERCER:  Kryder.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Kryder.  All right.
  

12                 Further discussion?
  

13                 (No response.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

15                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

17                 (No response.)
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, Exhibit A is
  

19   adopted.
  

20                 I think we are now ready to vote the
  

21   Certificate as a whole.
  

22                 Can I get a motion?
  

23                 MEMBER MERCER:  So moved.
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We'll do a roll call vote
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 1   for the Certificate.
  

 2                 Member DiCiccio?
  

 3                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Yes.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Drago?
  

 5                 MEMBER DRAGO:  I vote aye.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Mercer?
  

 7                 MEMBER MERCER:  I vote aye.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder?
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yes.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant?
  

11                 MEMBER FANT:  May I say something,
  

12   Mr. Chair?
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Absolutely.
  

14                 MEMBER FANT:  The fact that the applicant
  

15   has the support of Pinal County, I do work in Pinal
  

16   County, and their Chairman of Pinal County Board of
  

17   Supervisors, Steve Miller, is a crafty old fox.  And if
  

18   Andrew Sutton, the mayor of Eloy, and Steve Miller back
  

19   you, that tells you it's a solid project, so I vote aye.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Comstock?
  

21                 MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Aye.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little?
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE: (No audible response.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We can't hear you, Member
  

25   Little, you're muted.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Sorry.
  

 2                 I vote aye, Mr. Chairman.  And I would like
  

 3   to thank the applicant, as well as the many people who
  

 4   made it possible for me to attend remotely today.
  

 5                 Thank you.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

 7                 Member Fontes.
  

 8                 MEMBER FONTES:  Aye.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I didn't hear you, Member
  

10   Fontes.
  

11                 MEMBER FONTES:  Aye.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And I vote aye.
  

13                 By a vote of nine ayes, zero nays, the
  

14   Certificate of Environmental Compatibility is granted.
  

15                 Can I get a motion to allow the Chairman to
  

16   correct scrivener's errors, typos, grammatical issues --
  

17                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
  

18                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- and sign and file with
  

20   the Commission?
  

21                 It's been moved and seconded.  All in favor
  

22   say aye.
  

23                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

25                 (No response.)
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the motion
  

 2   carries.
  

 3                 Thank you all very much.  Anything for the
  

 4   good of the order, Members?
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  Congratulations.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

 7                 With that, we are adjourned.
  

 8                 (The hearing concluded at 2:33 p.m.)
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 1   STATE OF ARIZONA    )
   COUNTY OF MARICOPA  )

 2
  

 3
             BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings were

 4   taken before me; that the foregoing pages are a full,
   true, and accurate record of the proceedings all done to

 5   the best of my skill and ability; that the proceedings
   were taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter reduced

 6   to print under my direction.
  

 7             I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of
   the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the

 8   outcome hereof.
  

 9             I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical
   obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3) and ACJA 7-206

10   (J)(1)(g)(1) and (2).  Dated at Phoenix, Arizona, this
   11th day of December, 2025.

11
  

12
  

13
  

14                     ___________________________
                     ROBIN L. B. OSTERODE, RPR

15                     CA CSR No. 7750
                     AZ CR No. 50695

16
  

17                       *   *   *   *   *
  

18             I CERTIFY that Glennie Reporting Services, LLC,
   has complied with the ethical obligations set forth in

19   ACJA 7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) through (6).
  

20
  

21
  

22
  

23
            _______________________________________

24                GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC
                Registered Reporting Firm

25                Arizona RRF No. R1035
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